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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
1
 

The Estate of Ronald E. Johnson, by and through its Personal Representative, 

Lynette K. Johnson, and Lynette K. Johnson, individually (collectively “Johnson”) appeal 

from a Judgment of the Second Judicial Circuit Court.  SR at 2842.  The Judgment was 

signed on February 16, 2016, and filed on February 16, 2016.  Id.   The Defendants 

served a Notice of Entry of Judgment on February 17, 2016.  Id. at 2844.  Johnson 

subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal on March 16, 2016.  Id. at 2871.  Jurisdiction in 

this Court is therefore proper under SDCL 15-26A-3. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. WHETHER A JURY COULD CONCLUDE THAT THE DEFENDANTS’ 

CONDUCT WAS EXTREME AND OUTRAGEOUS. 

 

 The circuit court held that no jury could conclude that the Defendants’ conduct 

was extreme and outrageous for purposes of the Plaintiffs’ claim for intentional infliction 

of emotional distress. 

Wangen v. Knudson, 428 N.W.2d 242 (S.D. 1988). 

 

Kjerstad v. Ravellette Pub. Co., 517 N.W.2d 419 (S.D. 1994).  

 

Petersen v. Sioux Valley Hosp. Assoc., 491 N.W.2d 467 (S.D. 1992). 

 

Bass v. Happy Rest, Inc. 507 N.W.2d 317 (S.D. 1993). 

 

  

                                                 
1
 Throughout this brief, the documents indexed and transmitted by the Minnehaha County 

Clerk of Courts, the settled record, will be referenced by using “SR” followed by the 

appropriate page number(s).  The Appendix attached hereto will be referenced by using 

“APP” followed by the appropriate page number(s).  The transcript from the summary 

judgment hearing will be referenced by using “TR” followed by the appropriate page 

number(s). 



 

 

2 

II. WHETHER THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT 

CONCERNING JOHNSON’S CLAIM FOR FRAUDULENT 

MISPRESENTATION. 

 

 The circuit court held that there is no genuine issue of material fact concerning 

certain of the elements of the Plaintiff’s claim for fraudulent misrepresentation. 

North American Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M.C.I. Com. Serv., Inc., 2008 S.D. 45, 

751 N.W.2d 710. 

 

St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. Engelmann, 2002 S.D. 8, 639 N.W.2d 192. 

 

Rumpza v. Larsen, 1996 S.D. 87, 551 N.W.2d 810. 

 

 Berbos v. Krage, 2008 S.D. 68, 754 N.W.2d 432. 

 

SDCL 15-6-56(c). 

 

III. WHETHER SOUTH DAKOTA SHOULD RECOGNIZE A PRIVATE 

CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS 

CLAUSE FOUND IN ARTICLE VI, § 2 OF THE SOUTH DAKOTA 

CONSTITUTION. 

 

 The circuit court held that Johnson could not maintain a due process claim based 

upon Article VI, § 2 of the South Dakota Constitution. 

Dorwart v. Caraway, 58 P.3d 128, 135 (Mont. 2002). 

Hurley v. State, 143 N.W.2d 722 (1966). 

Heitman v. State, 815 S.W.2d 681, 687-88 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991). 

Egan Consolidated School District v. Minnehaha County, 270 N.W. 527 (S.D. 

1936). 

 

South Dakota Constitution, Article VI, § 9. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Johnson commenced this action after Correctional Officer Ron Johnson was 

murdered while on guard at the South Dakota Penitentiary.  Johnson alleged violations of 
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Ron Johnson’s rights under the United States Constitution (42 U.S.C. § 1983) and the 

South Dakota Constitution (Count III), and several common law claims.  SR at 2-25.  The 

DOC removed the action to United States District Court.  Id. at 34-61.  The District Court 

granted summary judgment in favor of the DOC on Johnson’s § 1983 claim and 

remanded the state law claims.  Id. at 66-83.  Johnson appealed the dismissal of the § 

1983 claim to the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals, which affirmed.  Id. at 2816. 

Upon remand to the circuit court, the Defendants moved for summary judgment.  

SR at 84-85.  The circuit court granted the Defendants’ motion.  Id. at 2812-43.  This 

appeal followed. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

In 2003, Rodney Berget (“Berget”) was given two life sentences and was returned 

to prison.  SR at 1215.  He immediately refused his housing assignment, went on a 

hunger strike, and demanded to be moved out of the maximum custody facility 

(“Jameson”).  Id. at 1216-23.  In direct violation of DOC policy, Warden Douglas Weber 

(“Weber”) made a deal with Berget, whereby Berget ended his hunger strike in exchange 

for Weber moving him out of Jameson and into West Hall.  Id. at 1223, 1254. 

In July of 2006, Eric Robert (“Robert”) was sentenced to 80 years in prison.  Id. 

at 1228.  He was ultimately assigned to West Hall where he met Berget.  Id. at 802, 

1444-46, 1229.  In 2007, Robert attempted to escape and Berget was implicated in the 

plan.  Id. at 1231-34.  As a result, Robert was moved to Jameson and nothing happened 

to Berget.  Id.  In 2008, Robert sought a modification of his sentence, which was denied 

in 2009.  Id. at 1239, 1240, 1273-74.  In July of 2009, Robert went on a hunger strike and 



 

 

4 

demanded to be moved to the third floor of West Hall.  Id. at 1241, 1243.  Again, Weber 

violated DOC policy and agreed to move Robert.  Id. at 1242-43, 1254.  Approximately 

one month later, Berget packed up his belongings and demanded to be moved to a cell on 

the third floor of West Hall near Robert.  Id. at 1244, 1276-77.  Again, his demands were 

met and Berget was moved.  Id. at 1244-45. 

Throughout 2009, 2010, and 2011 the Defendants were informed by multiple 

sources that Berget and/or Robert were planning an escape – States Attorney Jesse 

Sondreal, Correctional Officer Chet Buie (“CO Buie”), Tim Henry, and David Tolley.  

Id. at 1240, 1273-74, 2338-41, 2466-68, 2722-32, 2740-41.  Despite these warnings, and 

despite the fact that the placements themselves violated policy, Berget and Robert were 

not moved.  Id. at 802, 1444-46.  During this same timeframe, the Defendants asked 

another inmate, David Tolley, to spy on Berget and Robert and report back to them.  Id. 

at 2467-68.  Tolley was placed in the cell next to Berget and Robert.  Id. at 2466-68. 

Tolley reported that they were in fact planning an escape and he requested to be moved 

before something happened.  Id.  Tolley was moved but Berget and Robert remained in 

their cells.  Id. at 802, 1444-46. 

After being placed in West Hall, Berget and Robert sought jobs that allowed them 

to move freely to and from West Hall.  Id. at 1756-57, 1698-99.  First, Robert obtained a 

job as a laundry cart pusher.  Id. at 1756-57.  On March 18, 2011, Berget obtained a job 

as a recycling orderly.  Id. at 811.  Three weeks after Berget secured that job, Berget and 

Robert killed Ron Johnson while he was on duty in the PI Building.  Id. at 1287-88. 
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Thereafter, the Defendants issued an After-Incident Report, which was intended to 

be a comprehensive overview of what took place.  SR at 607.  The After-Incident Report 

affirmatively stated that DOC staff followed all policies and procedures.  Id. at 624.  The 

Defendants also participated in an audit conducted by the National Institute of 

Corrections (“NIC”).  Id. at 635.  The NIC issued a report and the Defendants issued a 

response.  Id. at 635, 655.  None of the reports disclosed the hunger strikes or any of 

substantive facts that contributed to Berget and Robert killing Ron Johnson.  Id. at 607, 

635, 655.  The After-Incident Report did not mention any of the repeated warnings given 

to the Defendants by the sources listed above.  Id. at 607. 

Johnson contends that the Defendants’ conduct substantially contributed to the 

death of Ron Johnson.  APP at C-2 – C-8.  Johnson has further demonstrated that the 

Defendants knew that their actions were indefensible and contributed to his death.  Id.  

Faced with this situation, the Defendants chose to misrepresent the facts in an effort to 

avoid culpability and potential liability.  Id.  Their representations and conduct after the 

death of Ron Johnson caused damage and extreme emotional distress to Lynette Johnson.  

Id. 

I. The crimes which led to Rodney Berget and Eric Robert’s incarceration. 

Berget and Robert were violent men.  According to former States Attorney Jesse 

Sondreal, who prosecuted both men, Robert was the most violent and dangerous person 

he had ever seen, and Berget’s criminal history was atrocious.  SR at 1271, 1274-75. 

A. Berget.  During the early part of 2003, Berget assaulted Beatrice Miranda 

and threatened to kill her and/or her children if she told anyone.  SR at 1214.  After he 
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was charged with assault, Berget went to Ms. Miranda’s home intending to torture and 

kill her.  Id. at 1214, 1272.  Upon arriving, Berget shot Ms. Miranda and her male friend.  

Id. at 1214.  Believing he had killed them, Berget left and drove to a convenience store in 

Sturgis, where he kidnapped the female store clerk and raped her at gun point.  Id.  As a 

result of these crimes, Berget pled guilty to attempted first degree murder and kidnapping 

and was given two mandatory life sentences.  Id. at 1215, 1272. 

B. Robert. 

In July of 2005, Robert impersonated law enforcement and “pulled over” a young 

woman (using flashing lights on his pickup) near Black Hawk.  SR at 1226.  He forced 

the woman into the trunk of her car; however, the woman had a cell phone and was 

rescued.  Id.  A search of Robert’s pickup revealed that the pickup bed was covered by a 

topper which contained a mattress, a shovel, an axe, rope, a wooden club, and 

pornography.  Id. at 1226, 1272.  Robert pled guilty to kidnapping and was sentenced to 

80 years.  Id. at 1227-28. 

II. Department of Corrections facilities and supervision. 

 

The DOC’s facilities in Sioux Falls (collectively “the Penitentiary”) consists of 

the following: 

- Jameson Annex (Units A, B & D) – A separate wholly-contained facility 

within the perimeter of the Penitentiary designated for maximum custody 

inmates.  SR at 574. 

- West Hall, East Hall, and Federal Hall (collectively “the Hill” or “SDSP”) 

– Facilities within the perimeter of the Penitentiary designated for high-
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medium custody inmates.  Id. 

- Jameson Annex (Unit C) – A separate facility located outside the 

perimeter of the Penitentiary designated for minimum custody inmates.  

Id. 

 DOC policy identifies Jameson (Units A, B & D) as the only DOC facility 

designated for maximum custody inmates.  Id.  DOC policy also requires that maximum 

custody inmates be subject to direct correctional supervision.  SR at 536, 574.  DOC staff 

have admitted that inmates housed in West Hall are not subject to direct correctional 

supervision.  Id. at 1698-99. 

 The Pheasantland Industries Building (“PI Building”) is also within the perimeter 

and contains a number of individual shops.  SR at 2342.  Although approximately 144 

inmates typically worked in the PI Building, just one Correctional Officer was stationed 

there.  Id. at 451, 2341-42.  Notably, the same Correctional Officer would frequently 

leave the building for extended periods, such as to deliver/retrieve mail and transport 

packages to/from an Office located outside the perimeter.  Id. at 2342.  Inmates in the PI 

Building were unequivocally not subject to direct correctional supervision.  Id. 

III. Berget’s time in the Penitentiary. 

 

Berget was first sent to the Penitentiary at the age of 15 after he had escaped at 

least twice from the State Training School.  SR at 1207-08.  Berget proceeded to spend 

many of the following years in the Penitentiary due to multiple convictions, including for 

escapes and attempts to escape.  Id. at 1208.  In addition to his two escapes from the State 
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Training School, Berget escaped from the Penitentiary on three separate occasions.
2
  Id. 

at 1208-09.  Berget made other attempts to escape, and likewise engaged in escape-

related activities on numerous further occasions.
3
  In October of 2003, while he was 

awaiting sentencing for attempted first degree murder and kidnapping, Berget was caught 

participating in an escape attempt.  Id. at 1215. 

Upon returning to the Penitentiary in December of 2003, intake documentation 

was completed.  Berget’s criminal history revealed 11 felony convictions.  SR at 1216.  A 

psychological interview was performed; no mental health issues were identified by the 

physician.  Id. at 1216-17.  As for his custody level, Berget was given the highest scores 

possible in every applicable category, resulting in his Risk Score being 31 points (out of a 

possible 33 points).  Id. at 1217.  Inmates with a score between 22-33 points are 

maximum custody inmates; therefore, Berget was a maximum custody inmate and 

assigned to Jameson.  Id. at 1217. 

 Thereafter, Berget proceeded to be a disciplinary problem.  SR at 1217-20.  Just 

two months after his return to the Penitentiary, Berget had received his third violation for 

refusing a housing assignment.  Id. at 1219.  Rather than being punished, Berget was 

moved out of Jameson.  SR at 801-04.  Because Berget was a maximum custody inmate, 

he could not be moved out of Jameson absent an “Administrative Decision” and a written 

                                                 
2
 Berget’s escape from the Penitentiary in 1987 along with others has been referred to as 

the largest and greatest escape in South Dakota history.”  SR at 1356, 1365, 1524, 1641. 
3
 By way of example:  a razor blade was found in Berget’s rectum; an exacto knife, 

hacksaw blades, extra winter clothing, and drill bits were found in his cell; red paint 

particles (used to cover up cut bars/locks) were found in his mattress; and cut steel mesh, 

cut iron bars, and obscured plexi-glass windows were found in areas where Berget had 

access.  SR at 1209-10, 1213-14. 
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narrative providing the factual basis for the move.  SR at 534-583.  Neither were done; 

the move went unrecorded.  SR at 723-24, 534-83.  Due to this lack of required 

documentation, who authorized this move and the basis for the decision are unknown. 

Berget continued to be a disciplinary problem and was written up frequently.  SR 

at 1300-50.  On June 2, 2004, Berget was taken to Health Services due to a hunger 

strike.
4
  SR at 1220.  Health Services concluded that the hunger strike was not the result 

of a mental health issue.  Id.  On June 9, Berget was evaluated by Dr. Robert Strayhan.  

SR at 2500-01.  Dr. Strayhan confirmed that Berget’s hunger strike was clearly an effort 

to change his housing, and noted that “he is making the calculated decision to go on a 

hunger strike to get moved,” and “is refusing to eat in order to gain more favorable 

incarcerational status.”  Id. 

 Berget continued his hunger strike until June 10.  SR at 1222-23.  That day, 

Weber contacted Health Services and advised that Berget had “agreed” to start eating.
5
  

Id.  Although the DOC’s ethics code and policies prohibit making a deal with an inmate 

to end a hunger strike, Berget was moved to West Hall the following day.
6
 SR at 1221-

23. 

 On June 18, Berget was written up for a disciplinary infraction and placed back in 

Jameson.  SR at 1223.  On June 21, Berget went on another hunger strike.  Id. at 1223-24.  

Berget stated his hunger strike was because he had been returned to Jameson:  “just not 

                                                 
4
 Berget had previously gone on hunger strikes to get what he wanted.  SR at 1210-12. 

5
 Inexplicably, the documents preceding and following this Progress Note are blank.  SR 

at 1409-30. 
6
 According to DOC staff person Chad Stratmeyer, an agreement to move an inmate 

based on a hunger strike is not only a violation of policy, it violates the basic ethics of 

corrections.  SR at 1825.  
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eating if I go back to Hill today I will start eating.”  Id.  Berget prevailed – he was moved 

backed to West Hall the same day.  Id. 

As before, because Berget was a maximum custody inmate, he could not be 

moved out of Jameson absent an “Administrative Decision” and a written narrative 

providing the factual basis.  SR at 566, 1251-53.  However, no required paperwork was 

completed that would verify who made the decision to move Berget or the basis for the 

decision.  SR at 1225.  In fact, even despite additional disciplinary infractions, Berget 

continued to live in West Hall without written authorization for the next several months.  

SR at 1225-1226.  As for the required factual justification, it stated simply:  “‘Other’ is 

being used as a placement basis.  Per Warden, this inmate will be housed in West Hall.”  

SR at 1226. 

In June of 2004, while Berget was in West Hall, Defendant Crystal Van Vooren 

sent an e-mail to all DOC Security Staff and Unit Management Staff stating that she 

wanted “to create a list of inmates that we consider our ‘most dangerous.’”  SR at 1224.  

Only two e-mail responses were provided in discovery and both identified Berget as one 

of the most dangerous.  Id. 

 In the years that followed, Berget continued to have multiple disciplinary 

infractions, but he was never sent back to Jameson.  SR at 1300-50, 801-04.  On August 

3, 2009, Berget “packed his property and went to the West Hall holding cell.”  SR at 

1244.  DOC staff was not able to convince Berget to return to his cell, and he was sent to 

disciplinary segregation and promptly engaged in a hunger strike.  Id.  The hunger strike 
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ended when Berget was moved to a cell on third floor of West Hall next to Robert.
7
  Id. 

at 1244-45. 

The DOC admits that those narratives which were completed are void of any 

factual basis justifying Berget being housed outside of Jameson.  SR at 1258.  Most state 

nothing more than that Berget is being housed in West Hall “per the Warden” or “per 

Senior Staff”; a few provide that Berget is in West Hall because he is “having a hard time 

adjusting to his crime.”  SR at 532-33.  After Berget was placed in the cell next to Robert, 

no member of the Senior Staff ever signed their name on the required documentation 

approving Berget’s placement.  SR at 1246, 1249. 

IV. Robert’s time in the Penitentiary. 

 

Robert arrived at the Penitentiary on January 6, 2006.  SR at 1228.  Robert’s 

psychological interview did not identify any mental health issues.  Id. at 1228-29.  Robert 

was categorized as High Medium custody and was ultimately assigned to West Hall.  SR 

at 1229. 

In May of 2007, an inmate informed the DOC that Robert had cut a lock on the 

fan room door in the West Hall shower and intended to escape.  Id. at ¶108-112.  The 

following day, another inmate reported that he had overhead Robert talking to Berget 

about cutting the lock.  Id.  Robert challenged the charge and Berget wrote a letter on 

                                                 
7
 Records confirm that just weeks earlier Robert successfully obtained a transfer from 

Jameson to the third floor of West Hall by engaging in a hunger strike.  SR at 1241-43.  

Inmate Henry reported to DCI that he informed DOC staff in 2009 that Berget and Robert 

were planning an escape and went on hunger strikes to obtain cells in West Hall near 

each other.  Id. at 2721-2725. 
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Robert’s behalf.  Id.  The DOC ultimately found that Robert had attempted to escape.
8
  

Id.  Robert was reclassified as a maximum security inmate and moved to Jameson.  

Annex.  Id. at ¶117.
9
 

 In the months that followed, Robert had several disciplinary infractions.  Id. at 

¶¶121-31, 133.  In January of 2008, Robert advised DOC staff that “he needs to get back 

to the Hill.”  Id. at ¶136-37.  In February, it was observed that Robert had “strong 

antisocial traits,” and “ha[d] been getting more write ups each week.”
10 

 Id. at ¶¶141-43.  

In May of 2008, Robert requested that he be transferred to his home state of Wisconsin.  

Id. at ¶¶146-47.  The request was denied.  Id.  Later that same month, Correctional 

Officer Flick filed a report stating that a confidential informant had advised him that 

Robert was “after” him.  Id. at ¶148.  According to the report, Robert “was going to wait 

until after his Court date and depending what the outcome was he was going to blast 

[Flick].”  Id. 

In 2009, States Attorney Jesse Sondreal contacted the DOC about Robert and 

requested information concerning “any possible escape plans/write-ups and threats to 

assault staff.”  Id. at ¶153-54.  Van Vooren indicated at that time that Robert’s file 

contained “a 5-5 escape write-up from 07 and threats to staff in 08.”  Id.  A 

contemporaneous DOC Progress Report advised that Robert’s conduct “makes him a 

                                                 
8
 At the same time, Berget was written up for two Major disciplinary infractions, but the 

charges were ultimately reduced.  SR at 1231-34.  The DOC never produced any 

documents explaining the reduction of the charges.   
9
 The Classification Custody Form indicates that due to the Shower Room escape 

attempt, Robert would be “Max for 10 years.” 
10

 On March 11, 2008, Warden Weber expunged an infraction for refusing housing.  Id. 

at ¶143.   
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security risk,” and the DOC represented that Robert would “remain at the Jameson Annex 

Maximum Security Unit-D.”  Id.  Prior to contacting the DOC, Sondreal had received a 

letter from Robert’s cellmate (Michael Thomas), which prompted him to have Thomas 

interviewed by the South Dakota Division of Criminal Investigation (“DCI”).  Id. at 

¶¶346-51.  Thomas reported that Robert talked about threatening to harm people in the 

future, including his sentencing judge, the prosecutor, other inmates and guards.  SR at 

2483-84.  He also heard Robert ask Weber to be moved out of Jameson and to the Hill, 

and that Weber refused and told Robert that he was too dangerous to be moved.  Id.  

Finally, Thomas met with special security and DCI on more than one occasion to discuss 

Robert, and also addressed the issues directly with Weber.  Id.  From his investigation, 

Sondreal concluded that there was credible information that Robert was planning an 

escape attempt that involved killing a DOC employee – and that is why he contacted the 

DOC, discussed the information with them, and sought any information that the DOC 

might have.  SR at 1493-95, 1498. 

 In March of 2009, the court denied Robert’s request to have his sentence reduced.  

SR at 1240.  Shortly thereafter, Robert went on a hunger strike and, upon evaluation, 

indicated that he “continue[d] to be upset about being housed in Jamison Annex;” he 

requested that he be moved to West Hall “where there are greater work opportunities.”  

Id. at 1240-43.  According to Mental Health’s notes, Robert’s intent was “to get back to 

West Hall or to be transferred to a prison in Wisconsin . . . .”  Id. 

 Robert demanded to speak with Weber.  On June 18, Robert was cited for 

refusing to eat.  SR at 1241-42.  He stated:  “I just want to talk to the Warden.”  Id.  On 
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June 22, Robert indicated that his hunger strike was because he “wants to talk to Warden 

Weber.”  Id. at 1242.  On June 23, he again requested to see Weber.  Id.  According to the 

physician’s assistant, Robert “does not give any reason for his hunger strike, but indicates 

that he just wants to speak with the warden.”  Id.  Weber met with Robert on June 23; 

Robert indicated that he “ha[d] discontinued hunger strike (ate lunch today), as he was 

able to talk to Warden, as requested.”  Id.  He requested that he be moved to West Hall 

the following day, and maintained that he would continue eating.  Id. at 1242-43.  Robert  

was transferred to the third floor of West Hall the very next day.  Id. at 1243.   

Although the DOC flatly denies that a “deal” was made, Correctional Officer 

Andrew Hanson recalled the meeting.  SR at 2478-82.  According to CO Hanson, he was 

asked to move Robert into a separate room for a meeting with Weber; Weber came and 

met with Robert; after the meeting, Senior Staff instructed CO Hanson to retrieve a bottle 

of Ensure for Robert; and “immediately” after his meeting with Weber, Robert was 

moved out of Jameson and into West Hall.
11

  Id. at 2479-80. 

The required placement documents were not completed, and Robert’s hunger 

strike infraction was expunged by Weber.  SR at 739-800, 1644.  In Weber’s words, the 

hunger strike infraction was expunged “due to the fact that the inmate did eat; thereby, 

ending his hunger strike.”  Id. 

Certain staff expressed disagreement with Robert being moved out of Jameson.  

SR at 1539-40.  Case Manager Lisa Fraser typed a written narrative expressing her 

                                                 
11

 Part of the reason that CO Hanson left the DOC was because he “honestly believe[d] 

that it was simply a matter of time before someone was seriously injured based on these 

decisions.”  SR at 2480. 
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disagreement onto the DOC’s computer system.  Id. at 1540.  Ms. Fraser later observed 

that her narrative was deleted.  Id. at 1554-55.  Once a narrative or entry is placed on the 

DOC’s computer system, it will not automatically delete.  Id. at 1591-92.  The 

Defendants have provided no explanation for this spoliation of evidence.   

As with Berget, the DOC admits that the narratives lack any factual basis 

justifying Robert being housed in West Hall.  SR at 1588.  Just like Berget, the narratives 

state nothing more than that Robert is being housed in West Hall “per Senior Staff,” and 

housed in West Hall “due to his inability to adjust to housing at [Jameson].”  Id. at 599.
12

 

V. The DOC was aware that Berget and Robert were going to attempt an 

escape.  

 

By August of 2009, the DOC had placed Berget and Robert just one cell apart 

(W085 and W089), allowing them to converse and plan on a daily basis.  SR at 584-88, 

801-04.  According to Tolley, Berget and Robert were moved out of Jameson as part of 

deals to end hunger strikes.  APP at F-2.  Tolley stated that this fact was well known to 

unit management in West Hall and discussed on a regular basis.  Id.  He further reported 

that prior to Berget being moved to West Hall, Tolley was contacted by Unit Manager 

Brad Woodward.  Id.  In that discussion, Woodward specifically requested that Tolley 

change cells and move into the cell next to Berget on third floor so that he could keep an 

eye on Berget and Robert.  Id.  As a result of this arrangement, Tolley had a number of 

conversations with DOC staff regarding Berget and Robert.  Id.  Specifically, he had 

                                                 
12 

After Berget and Robert were moved to West Hall, they secured jobs.  SR at 643, 1734.  

Robert became a “laundry cart pusher,” allowing him to freely leave and return to West 

Hall.  Id. at 1756-57.  Meanwhile, Berget obtained an orderly position.  Id. at 811.  DOC 

staff admitted that Berget and Robert’s jobs often permitted them to be without direct 

correctional supervision.  Id. at 1698-99. 
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conversations with Woodward, Defendant Van Vooren, Joe Miller, Heather Veld, Pam 

Linneweber, and Mary Rodasky.  Id.  Tolley told them that Berget and Robert were 

clearly up to something and that they intended to escape.  Id.  Because of what Tolley had 

observed, he actually requested to be moved away from Berget and Robert as he did not 

want to be around them when they made their escape attempt.  Id. at F-3.  Based on his 

request, the DOC moved Tolley to a different cell.  Id.  Importantly, Tolley specifically 

recalls an exchange between Robert and Weber in which Robert threatened to kill Weber.  

Id. 

Later that fall, another inmate, Henry, contacted Woodward and reported that 

Berget and Robert were planning an escape attempt.  SR at 2723-24, 1276-77.  

Woodward said that he had relayed the information to Weber, Van Vooren, and DOC 

security head Tom Linneweber.  Id. at 2725.  Henry also expressed concern about the 

jobs that Berget and Robert had – they had complete freedom of movement in West Hall; 

they were virtually never in their cells except for counts, and even though Berget did not 

have a laundry position, he was going back and forth from West Hall to the PI Building 

all the time.  Id. at 2727-28.  Henry was told by DOC staff to mind his business.  Id.  

Henry further told DOC staff that Berget and Robert had wanted cells next to each other.  

Id. at 1277.  Henry relayed his concerns to Woodward on more than one occasion, and 

Woodward stated that he had spoken to Weber about the matter.  Id. at 2732. 

In August of 2010, Berget’s cell was searched as part of a specific shakedown and 

the following items were found:  1 box cutter razor blade; 1 exacto knife razor blade, and 

2 drill bits.  SR at 1307.  As a result, Berget was moved to disciplinary segregation.  Id. at 
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801-07.  Berget commenced yet another hunger strike.  SR at 1247-48.  When asked why 

he was not eating, and keeping in mind that Berget was serving a life sentence, Berget 

“[s]tate[d] he [wa]s fasting prior to leaving prison.”  Id. at 1248.  Berget was back in 

West Hall within four days.  Id. 

In the summer/early fall of 2010, Woodward reported to CO Buie, a thirty-year 

veteran, that Weber had given him the following instruction:  “Weber wants me to make 

sure Berget’s in his cell every day before I go home.”  SR at 2338.  Woodward also told 

CO Buie that Berget and Robert’s names “were coming up all the time” during Senior 

Staff meetings with Weber.  Id.  It was clear to CO Buie that Weber and the DOC 

administration were aware of the threat created by Berget and Robert.  Id. 

During that same time, CO Buie observed that Berget and Robert were routinely 

together and it was obvious that they had “hooked up” by September of 2010.  Id.  To 

him, they were clearly watching the West Gate and people and/or vehicles coming into 

and going out.  Id.  CO Buie reported these observations to Woodward.  Id.  On one 

occasion, he point blank asked Weber:  “When are you gonna lock these guys up?”  

Weber ignored him and did not respond.  Id. 

VI. Berget and Robert execute their plan. 

On April 12, 2011, Berget and Robert took advantage of their particular 

placement in West Hall and their jobs to carry out their plan.  Sometime after 10:00 a.m. 

they jumped Ron in the PI Building and proceeded to viciously beat him to death with a 

lead pipe, crushing his skull in multiple places.  SR at 1288. 

DCI commenced an investigation and interviewed numerous individuals.  One 
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day after Ron’s murder, Henry informed DCI of what he had reported to DOC staff.  SR 

at 2721.  In his statement, and without the benefit of any documents, Henry accurately 

recounted Berget and Robert’s scheme over the course of the prior 18 months.  Id. at 

1276-77, 2722-24.  States Attorney Jesse Sondreal was interviewed by a reporter the 

same day that Ron was murdered.  Id. at 1272, 1274-75, 1518-20.  Sondreal disclosed 

that in connection with Robert’s request for a reduction of his 80-year sentence, he had 

learned that Robert was plotting to kill a prison employee in conjunction with an escape.  

Id. 1516-29.  As a result, he had contacted the DOC and asked to speak with security.  Id. 

at 1489-91.  Sondreal testified that he still believed that Robert had been planning an 

escape and plotting to kill an employee.  Id. at 1493-94. 

VII. The DOC’s After-Incident Report. 

After Ron’s murder, the DOC issued an After-Incident Report, which was 

intended to be a comprehensive overview of what took place.  SR at 2042, 2126.  The 

report made no reference to Berget’s and Robert’s hunger strikes and the role they played 

in their transfer out of Jameson; instead, the report represented that “[p]enitentiary staff 

followed all policies and procedures.”  Id. at 435.  Similarly, the report made not a single 

reference to the DOC’s repeated use of “Administrative Decision” to facilitate Berget and 

Robert’s transfers to West Hall.  Id. 

The report was provided to Lynette Johnson, and was represented to her as an 

accurate statement of what led to her husband’s death.  SR at 1785, 2042, 2052-53, 2126.  

Since then, Lynette has learned that the Defendants not only facilitated Ron’s murder, but 

went to great to lengths to cover up their conduct.  This additional information has been 
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devastating to Lynette.  Lynette has received counseling, and was ultimately evaluated by 

Nathan Szajnberg, M.D.  SR at 2745.  In a report, Dr. Szajnberg confirmed that Lynette 

has suffered extreme injuries and damages as a result of the Defendants’ 

misrepresentations, and that these injuries and damages are distinct from the emotional 

trauma resulting from the death of her husband.  Id.  Dr. Szajnberg further confirmed that 

Lynette will incur pecuniary damage as a result of the Defendants’ conduct.  Id. at 2752. 

Separately, Johnson retained corrections expert Jeffrey Schwartz, Ph.D.  After 

extensively reviewing the matter, Dr. Schwartz concluded that (i) nearly all of the records 

confirm that Weber made a deal with Berget and Robert to end their hunger strikes, (ii) 

that multiple policies had been repeatedly and intentionally violated, and (iii) that the 

Defendants engaged in a cover-up to avoid accountability for their actions in conjunction 

with Ron Johnson’s death.  APP at C-2 – C-8.  Dr. Schwartz also opined that while the 

After-Incident Report affirmatively stated that no policies were violated, the opposite was 

true and that, in fact, there were numerous intentional policy violations that contributed to 

Ron Johnson’s murder.  Id. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 This Court’s standard of review for summary judgment is well settled: 

[This Court] must determine whether the moving party demonstrated the 

absence of any genuine issue of material fact and showed entitlement to 

judgment on the merits as a matter of law.  The evidence must be viewed 

most favorably to the nonmoving party and reasonable doubts should be 

resolved against the moving party.  The nonmoving party, however, must 

present specific facts showing that a genuine, material issue for trial exists. 

[This Court’s] task on appeal is to determine only whether a genuine issue 

of material fact exists and whether the law was correctly applied.  If there 

exists any basis which supports the ruling of the trial court, affirmance of a 

summary judgment is proper. 
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Brandt v. County of Pennington, 2013 S.D. 22, ¶7, 827 N.W.2d. 871, 874 (quoting 

Jacobson v. Leisinger, 2008 S.D. 19, ¶ 24, 746 N.W.2d 739, 745). 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

 Johnson’s claims are based on the Defendants’ conduct that contributed to the 

death of Ron Johnson and the Defendants’ later efforts to cover up and misrepresent their 

involvement in the murder.  In the circuit court’s Memorandum Opinion and Order, it 

concluded that many of the facts “are truly undisputed.”  SR at 2813.  This is an 

erroneous statement, and because the case was determined on summary judgment the 

error is crucial. 

I. WHETHER A JURY COULD CONCLUDE THAT THE DEFENDANTS’ 

CONDUCT WAS EXTREME AND OUTRAGEOUS. 

 

 While it is for the trial court to determine, in the first instance, whether a 

defendant’s conduct may be reasonably regarded as extreme and outrageous, “[w]hen 

reasonable minds may differ, it is for the jury to determine . . . .”  Petersen v. Sioux 

Valley Hosp. Assoc., 486 N.W.2d 516, 519 (S.D. 1992).  And, “[t]he extreme and 

outrageous character of the conduct may arise from the actor’s knowledge that the other 

is particularly susceptible to emotional distress by reason of some physical or mental 

condition or peculiarity.  Actions which may not make an actor liable in one situation 

may make him liable in another.”  Wangen v. Knudson, 428 N.W.2d 242, 248 (S.D. 

1988).  Further, the relationship between the parties also has a substantial impact on the 

analysis.  Watts v. Chittenden, 22 A.3d 1214, 1221 (Conn. 2011).  See also House v. 

Hicks, 179 P.3d 730, 737 (Or. 2008) (“The most important factor is whether a special 
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relationship exists between a plaintiff and a defendant, such as an employer-employee 

[or] government officer-citizen . . . .  A defendant’s relationship to the plaintiff may be 

one that imposes on the defendant a greater obligation to refrain from subjecting the 

victim to abuse, fright, or shock than would be true in arm’s-length encounters among 

strangers.”). 

Further, reckless conduct will support a claim for intentional infliction of 

emotional distress (“IIED”).  In Petersen v. Sioux Valley Hosp. Assoc., 491 N.W.2d 467 

(S.D. 1992), this Court stated:  “While we adhere to the elements outlined in Tibke, we 

also adhere to Wangen and specifically find that the tort of intentional infliction of 

emotional distress encompasses liability for reckless infliction of emotional distress as 

stated therein.”  Id. at 469. 

Importantly, when considering summary judgment on an IIED claim, a circuit 

court can infer an intent to inflict severe emotional distress from the evidence.  Bass v. 

Happy Rest, Inc. 507 N.W.2d 317, 323, n. 22 (S.D. 1993).  And, a party can rely upon a 

doctor’s report to support his/her causal connection.  Id. at n. 22.  For example, in Bass v. 

Happy Rest, Inc., 507 N.W.2d 317 (S.D. 1993), this Court noted that the trial court had 

“found that there was sufficient evidence in the doctor’s report for a jury to find that she 

suffered depression and other symptomatic emotional distress.”  Id.  Finally, the actor’s 

intent need not be limited to “caus[ing] the plaintiff severe emotional distress to be 

actionable.  In Kjerstad v. Ravellette Pub. Co., 517 N.W.2d 419 (S.D. 1994), “[t]here was 

testimony that the plaintiffs caught Ravellette spying on them in the restroom through a 

hole in the wall.”  Id. at 429.  According to this Court: 
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This behavior presents a jury issue as to whether it was extreme and 

outrageous conduct.  Although the trial court decided that there was no 

intent on the part of Ravellette to cause plaintiffs severe emotional 

distress, we are of the opinion that there was sufficient evidence to create a 

jury question as to whether or not Ravellette’s conduct intentionally or 

recklessly caused the plaintiffs an extreme disabling emotional response. 

 

Id. 

 In this case, the circuit court identified two bases for granting summary judgment 

on Johnson’s IIED claim:  (1) it concluded as a matter of law that the Defendants’ 

conduct was not “extreme and outrageous;” and (2) it concluded that there was no 

showing that the Defendants prepared the After-Incident Report for the calculated 

purpose of causing serious mental distress to Lynette Johnson.  The circuit court erred in 

both conclusions. 

 In Kjerstad, this Court reversed a directed verdict on the plaintiff’s IIED claim.  

Kjerstad, 517 N.W.2d at 419.  In that case, former employees simply alleged that their 

former employers spied on them while they were in the restroom.  Id. at 421.  This Court 

concluded that the singular allegation presented a jury issue as to whether the conduct 

was extreme and outrageous.  Id. at 429.  Similarly, in Bass, this Court found that the 

comments and conduct of an employer toward his employee presented a jury question on 

the plaintiff’s IIED claim.  Bass, 507 N.W.2d at 323. 

The conduct in this case exceeds that found to be actionable in Kjerstad and Bass.  

The Defendants knew that Lynette Johnson was grieving not only from the loss of her 

husband, but also his violent murder while on the job.  In neither Kjerstad nor Bass had 

the plaintiffs gone through anything close to the experience of Lynette Johnson.  Further, 

in neither of those cases was the relationship between the parties similar to the present 
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case.  In this case, the Defendants were both the employer and a government agency.  

Most importantly, if Johnson’s allegations are accepted as true, as they must be, the 

Defendants’ conduct in this case is substantially more egregious. 

Finally, the circuit court erroneously required that Johnson show that the 

Defendants prepared the After-Incident Report in a calculated effort to cause her harm.  

This standard is plainly wrong.  Again, this Court has clearly stated that reckless conduct 

leading to severe emotional distress is enough.  Petersen, 491 N.W.2d at 469; Kjerstad, 

517 N.W.2d at 429; Bass, 507 N.W.2d at 322; Wangen, 428 N.W.2d at 248. 

II. WHETHER THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT 

CONCERNING JOHNSON’S CLAIM FOR FRAUDULENT 

MISPRESENTATION. 

 

The Plaintiffs’ Complaint asserted a claim for misrepresentation / nondisclosure, 

which requires the showing of the following six elements: 

(1) The defendant made a representation as a statement of fact; 

(2) The representation was untrue; 

(3) The defendant knew the representation was untrue or he made the 

representation recklessly; 

(4) The defendant made the representation with intent to deceive the plaintiff 

and for the purpose of inducing the plaintiff to act upon it; 

(5) The plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and 

(6) The plaintiff suffered damage as a result. 

North American Truck & Trailer, Inc. v. M.C.I. Com. Serv., Inc., 2008 S.D. 45, ¶10, 751 

N.W.2d 710, 714. 
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 The circuit court’s grant of summary judgment on Count VI was based upon its 

conclusion that there were no genuine issues of material fact as to the second portion of 

element (4), element (5), and element (6).  According to the circuit court: 

Even if the court determined that questions of material fact existed as to 

whether the Defendant made an untrue factual statement, either knowingly 

or recklessly, and with the intent to deceive her, the record does contain 

evidence from which the court could similarly find issues of material fact 

as to the remaining elements of fraudulent misrepresentation. 

 

SR at 2830.  The circuit court erred. 

 Element (4).  The circuit court found that “there is no evidence that the 

Defendants issued the Incident Report for the purpose of inducing Mrs. Johnson to act 

upon it.”  SR at 2831.  That is not only an incorrect statement, but the circuit court failed 

to view “every reasonable inference” in favor of Johnson. 

 In order for summary judgment to be allowed, “[n]ot only must the facts be not in 

issue, but also there must be no genuine issue on the inferences to be drawn from those 

facts.”  St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. Engelmann, 2002 S.D. 8, ¶15, 639 N.W.2d 

192, 199.  The circuit court was required to view “‘every reasonable inference’” most 

favorably toward Johnson as the nonmoving party.  Rumpza v. Larsen, 1996 S.D. 87, ¶9, 

551 N.W.2d 810, 812.  And, if the circuit court had reasonable doubt as to whether a 

genuine issue of material fact existed, that doubt was required to be resolved against the 

Defendants.  Berbos v. Krage, 2008 S.D. 68, ¶17, 754 N.W.2d 432, 437. 

Deputy Secretary of Corrections Laurie Feiler testified that while it was originally 

unclear whether the After-Incident Report would be public, the DOC had told Lynette 

“early on” that it was “going to share the contents of the report with her.”  SR at 2053.  
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And, Secretary of Corrections Denny Kaemingk expected that Lynette Johnson would be 

able to “rely” upon the After-Incident Report with regard to what took place.  Id. at 1785. 

The Defendants had full knowledge of all of the facts leading up to the murder of 

Ron Johnson, specifically the Defendants’ own role.  The Defendants also expected that 

Lynette Johnson would rely on the After-Incident Report for an “accurate” and 

“transparent” account of the circumstances that resulted in her husband’s murder.  SR at 

1785, 2042, 2052, 2126.  And, it is irrefutable that the After-Incident Report failed to 

disclose many of the basic facts which actually lead to the death of Ron Johnson.  Given 

these facts, a “reasonable inference” is that the Defendants prepared the After-Incident 

Report in part to conceal their significant role in the murder of Ron Johnson, and thereby 

deceive Lynette Johnson and induce her to refrain from blaming or otherwise seeking to 

hold the Defendants accountable for the murder of her husband.  Accord Restatement 

(Second) of Torts § 531 (“One who makes a fraudulent misrepresentation is subject to 

liability to the persons or class of persons whom he intends or has reason to expect to act 

or to refrain from action in reliance upon the misrepresentation . . . .”). 

Element (5).  The circuit court held that there is “no evidence” that Lynette 

Johnson “actually relied to her detriment upon the statements in the Incident Report.”  SR 

at 2831.  That is incorrect. 

Johnson’s response to the Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment included a 

detailed report prepared by Nathan Szajnberg, M.D.  Dr. Szajnberg’s report makes clear 

that Lynette Johnson relied to her detriment upon the representations contained in the 

After-Incident Report and, as a result, suffered injuries and damages.  According to Dr. 
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Szajnberg, Lynette Johnson “clearly suffered extreme trauma both from the Defendants’ 

involvement in the murder of her husband and their subsequent misrepresentations; yet, 

these injuries and damages are clearly distinct.”  SR at 2752.  In Dr. Szajnberg’s words: 

[Lynette Johnson’s] sense of betrayal focuses on actions and omissions by 

the Warden and DOC both for what she alleges as intentional violations of 

policy (prior to his murder) that resulted in her husband’s murder, and 

misrepresentations subsequent to the murder.  She alleges that deliberate 

misinformation that has the appearance of a cover-up has aggravated her 

psychiatric state.  Her perceived losses and betrayals are highly consistent 

with her psychiatric condition at present. 

 

Id.  She has “further losses from her subsequent discoveries of what she perceives 

and alleges as intentional violations of policy by the prison’s Warden and other 

administrative staff and possible coverup [sic].”  Id. at 2753.  Dr. Szajnberg 

concluded that “[f]rom a clinical standpoint it is certainly foreseeable that the 

Defendants’ involvement in her husband’s murder and the nature of the alleged 

misrepresentations in this case would result in conditions consistent with those 

exhibited by the examinee.”  Id. 

Notably, rather than discussing Dr. Szajnberg’s report, the circuit court focused 

on Johnson’s Complaint and referenced SDCL 15-6-9(b)’s heightened pleading 

requirement for claims of fraud, and then commented that Johnson’s briefing “does not 

provide any greater clarity.”  SR at 2831.  The circuit court made a misstep in at least 

three respects. 

First, the evidence to be considered when ruling on a summary judgment motion 

is not limited to a plaintiff’s Complaint.  See SDCL 15-6-56(c). 

Second, the Defendants did not argue that Johnson failed to sufficiently plead her 
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claim for misrepresentation in violation of SDCL 15-6-9(b). 

Third, the circuit court’s comment that Johnson’s brief failed to “provide any 

greater clarity” on the issue of whether Lynette Johnson relied to her detriment upon the 

After-Incident Report is unfair.  While a review of the Defendants’ brief to the circuit 

court reveals myriad arguments, the Defendants did not seek summary judgment on the 

ground.  Johnson should not be faulted for failing to extensively brief an element that the 

Defendants’ did not brief and identify as a basis for summary judgment in the first 

instance.  If the circuit court intended to rely upon element (4) as a grounds for summary 

judgment despite the Defendants not doing so, it should have notified Johnson and 

afforded her an opportunity to respond.  See Leonhardt v. Leonhardt, 2012 S.D. 71, ¶12, 

822 N.W.2d 714, 717.  “A court should notify the parties when it intends to rely on a legal 

doctrine or precedents other than those briefed and argued by the litigants.”  Id. 

Element (6).  The circuit court concluded that there was no genuine issue of 

material fact as to whether Lynette Johnson suffered damage as a result of the 

Defendants’ misrepresentations.  A review of Dr. Szajnberg’s report, however, makes 

clear that this finding was also erroneous.  According to him, Lynette Johnson “clearly 

suffered extreme trauma both from the Defendants’ involvement in the murder of her 

husband and their subsequent misrepresentations; yet, these injuries and damages are 

clearly distinct.”  SR at 2752.   

III. WHETHER SOUTH DAKOTA SHOULD RECOGNIZE A PRIVATE 

CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS 

CLAUSE FOUND IN ARTICLE VI, § 2 OF THE SOUTH DAKOTA 

CONSTITUTION. 

 Count III of Johnsons’ Complaint included an allegation that the Defendants 
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violated Johnson’s due process rights under Article VI, § 2 of the South Dakota 

Constitution (“State Constitution”).
13

  SR at 20 (“[Ron Johnson] was deprived of rights, 

privileges and immunities secured by the United States Constitution and the South 

Dakota Constitution . . . . ”).  Although this Court has not yet expressly held that a 

violation of Article VI, § 2 is self-executing and gives rise to a private cause of action for 

damages, there is support for such a conclusion in South Dakota case law as well as in 

case law from many other state and federal courts. 

It is helpful to begin this discussion with the United States Supreme Court’s 

decision in Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 

388, 91 S. Ct. 1999, 29 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1971).  In that case, Bivens filed suit claiming that 

he suffered humiliation, embarrassment, and mental suffering as a result of unlawful 

conduct by federal agents.   Id. at 389-90.  The federal court dismissed Bivens’ complaint 

on the grounds that it failed to state a cause of action, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.  

Id. at 390. 

On appeal, the United States Supreme Court reversed and held that a federal cause 

of action under the Fourth Amendment for damages could be maintained.  Bivens, 403 

U.S. at 397.  The federal agents contended that a federal constitutional cause of action 

was unnecessary to redress the invasion of his constitutional right.  Id. at 390.  The 

Supreme Court disagreed noting, among other things, that “An agent acting – albeit 

unconstitutionally – in the name of the United States possesses a far greater capacity for 

                                                 
13 

Article VI, § 2 of the South Dakota Constitution provides, in pertinent part:  “No 

person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.”  S.D. 

Constitution, Art. VI, § 2. 
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harm than an individual trespasser exercising no authority other than his own.”  Id. at 

391-92.  The Supreme Court ultimately determined that Bivens’ complaint stated a cause 

of action.  Id. at 397. 

 Since Bivens, the United States Supreme Court has found that money damages 

are recoverable for violations of the Fifth Amendment’s guarantee of due process as well 

as the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment.
14

  Also 

since Bivens, courts have relied upon the reasoning in Bivens, English common law, and 

the Restatement Second of Torts to support a private cause of action for state 

constitutional violations.
15

  For example, courts in Utah and New York have concluded 

that state constitutional rights in those states to be free from cruel and unusual 

punishment, unreasonable searches and seizures, and equal protection are self-executing 

and that damages for violations of those state constitutional rights are recoverable based 

on the English Common Law and Bivens.
16

  Courts have also relied on Restatement 

(Second) of Torts for authority.
17

 

In Dorwart v. Caraway, the Montana Supreme Court held that a cause of action 

for money damages is available for violations of provisions of Montana’s state 

constitution, including the right to due process of law.  Dorwart, 58 P.3d at 137.  In 

doing so, the court utilized the reasoning in Bivens, English common law, and the 

                                                 
14

 See Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14, 100 S.Ct. 1468 (1980). 
15

 See Widgeon v. Eastern Shore Hosp. Center, 479 A.2d 921, 924 (Md. 1984); Dorwart 

v. Caraway, 58 P.3d 128, 135 (Mont. 2002). 
16

 See Bott v. DeLand, 922 P.2d 732 (Utah 1996), limited by Spackman ex rel. Spackman 

v. Board of Educ., 16 P.3d 533 (Utah 2000); Brown v. State, 674 N.E.2d 1129 (N.Y. 

1996). 
17

 See Dorwart v. Caraway, 58 P.3d 128, 135 (Mont. 2002). 
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Restatement Second of Torts.  Id. at 137.  In so holding, the Supreme Court of Montana 

noted that, by 1998, 21 states had recognized an implied cause of action for state 

constitutional violations, 3 additional states had signified that they would do so under 

certain narrow circumstances, a private cause of action had been recognized in a 25
th

 state 

by federal courts, and 4 states had enacted statutes authorizing such causes of action.  Id. 

at 133 (citing Gail Donoghue & Jonathan I. Edelstein, Life After Brown:  The Future of 

State Constitutional Tort Actions in New York, 42 N.Y.L. Sch. L. Rev. 447, n. 2 (1998)).  

 Turning to South Dakota, this Court has recognized private causes of action under 

South Dakota’s Constitution.  In Hurley v. State, 143 N.W.2d 722 (1966), this Court 

recognized a private cause of action for a violation of our State Constitution’s takings 

clause.  In so finding, this Court noted: 

In the absence of an adequate remedy . . . s 13, Art. VI of our Constitution 

is deemed to be self-executing.  * * *  The legislature is not authorized to 

restrict the language or take from the citizen the protection the constitution 

has thrown around him and his property. This provision of the constitution 

is self-executing, and, if there was no law to carry it into effect, a court of 

equity would, in the exercise of its inherent power, provide some method 

for ascertaining the damages, if any, caused by the injury threatened. 

Id. at 729.  This Court has also recognized a private cause of action under Article XI, 

which provides that public property is exempt from taxation.  See Egan Consolidated 

School District v. Minnehaha County, 270 N.W. 527 (S.D. 1936); Appeal of Black Hills 

Indus. Freeport, Inc., 268 N.W.2d 489 (S.D. 1978). 

Given the preceding, Johnson asked the circuit court to follow the lead of the 

majority of the courts that have considered this issue and hold that Johnson may assert a 

private cause of action under Article VI, § 2 of the State Constitution.  The circuit court, 
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however, rejected Johnson’s argument.  After noting that the Legislature has not created 

such a private right of action and that the circuit court lacked the authority to do so, the 

circuit court’s analysis focused on two bases. 

The circuit court first emphasized that South Dakota’s due process clause is 

virtually identical to the due process clause found in the United States Constitution and 

commented that “the citizens of South Dakota do not have a constitutional right to a 

particular analytical test for a due process claim that might differ from other 

jurisdictions.”  SR at 2836-37.  While the circuit is correct that the provisions are nearly 

identical, that is not Johnson’s point.  Johnson’s point is while South Dakotans may not 

have a “right” to a particular analytical test (i) only this Court should determine the 

factors of that test, and, equally important (ii) this Court may elect to adopt a test 

different than that employed by the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

If this Court elects to recognize such a private cause of action, research makes 

clear that this Court should not adopt the five-part “state-created danger” test employed 

by the District Court in the federal action.  In 2002, the Montana Supreme Court 

observed that implied causes of action for state constitutional violations had been 

recognized in nearly one-half of the States in America.  Dorwart, 58 P.3d at 135.  Not 

surprisingly, however, the courts in these States have not adopted a uniform “test” for 

evaluation of state constitutional claims.  Instead, as also observed by the Montana 

Supreme Court, “[t]he analytical framework for consideration of claims for violation of 

state constitutions varies from state to state.”  Id.  More important, however, it is clear 

that those States which have recognized implied causes of action for state constitutional 
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violation have not been adopting the Eighth Circuit five-part test (or other comparable 

federal courts’ tests) for evaluating § 1983 claims such as Johnson’s.  In that regard, it is 

worth noting that the Defendants did not identify a single jurisdiction (among those 

which have recognized a state constitutional claim) that requires that a defendant’s 

conduct “shock the conscience” as required by the Eighth Circuit; nor has Johnson’s 

research unearthed such a decision. 

Johnson was able to locate two “tests” used by other States that contain some 

language comparable to certain elements of the Eighth Circuit’s five-part test.  The 

Supreme Court of Utah has held that a prisoner may not recover damages under the 

“rigor clause” of the Utah Constitution unless “his injury was caused by a prison 

employee who acted with deliberate indifference or inflicted unnecessary abuse upon 

him.”  Bott v. DeLand, 922 P2d 732, 740 (Utah 1996).  And, claims for alleged violations 

of New York’s constitutional prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment similarly 

requires deliberate indifference.  De La Rosa v. State, 662 N.Y.S.2d 921, 924 (N.Y. Ct. Cl. 

1997).  Given that the various states which permit state constitutional claims have not 

adopted a uniform framework, and the fact that none of those states appear to have 

adopted the “shock the conscience” test, this Court should not adopt the five-part state-

created danger test employed in the federal action. 

 Notably, even the federal Courts of Appeals do not adhere to the same state-

created danger test.  The state-created danger doctrine originated from DeShaney v. 

Winnebago County Dept. of Social Services, 489 U.S. 189, 213 109 S.Ct. 998, 103 

L.Ed.2d 249 (1989).  Since DeShaney, the federal Courts of Appeals have adopted 
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differing approaches for analyzing such cases.  Kennedy v. City of Ridgefield, 439 F3d 

1055, 1074 (9
th

 Cir. 2004).  The fact that the federal Courts of Appeals have not 

conformed to uniform state-created danger test – or even consistently apply those 

components of their tests which are similar – is further reason for this Court to not adopt 

the Eighth Circuits’ five-part test. 

Apart from the preceding, it should be noted that courts have observed that the 

Eighth Circuit’s five-part state-created danger test is the most restrictive test that has been 

adopted by any federal Court of Appeals with regard to such claims.  Other courts have 

noticed that the Eighth Circuit applies an overly stringent analysis with regard to the 

standard for shocking the conscience.  Indeed, in a concurring opinion in the Arkansas 

Supreme Court’s decision Repking v. Lokey, 377 S.W.3d 211 (Ark. 2010), Justice 

Ronald Scheffield noted that if the facts already presented to the Eighth Circuit in prior 

cases did not shock the conscience, that almost nothing will, and further stated that he 

was unable to locate any case in which the Eighth Circuit’s conscience had actually been 

shocked.
18

 

 While there are many reasons why the Eighth Circuit’s test should not apply, 

constitutional law dictates the following:  South Dakota citizens are entitled to a full 

determination of whether their individual rights guaranteed to them by the State 

Constitution have been violated, as determined by a framework delineated by this Court.  

Common sense also supports this conclusion.  Consider the following observation by a 

                                                 
18

 Commentators have also observed that the standard being used by the Eighth Circuit 

should be rejected.  See Rosalie Berger Levinson, Time to Bury the Shocks-The-

Conscience Test, 13 Chap. L. Rev. 307 (2010). 
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Texas Court of Appeals: 

Furthermore, the state courts are better able to approach state 

constitutional interpretation with a more innovative and responsive 

approach to local interests than the Supreme Court whose decisions bear 

the onus of nationwide applicability.  The state court is best able to 

address the interests of the citizens of its state and balance those against 

the interests of that state as it does not have to operate from a national 

vision, seeking the lowest common denominator and considering all the 

variations from state to state.  For example, the South Dakota Supreme 

Court determines the reasonableness of a search and seizure by balancing 

the need for the search against the scope of the particular intrusion.  *** 

 

* * *  In fact, over a century ago, the Supreme Court recognized the states’ 

authority to depart from Supreme Court decisions.  Murdock v. City of 

Memphis, 87 U.S. (20 Wall.) 590, 22 L.Ed. 429 (1875).  There, the 

Supreme Court stated: 

 

[t]he State courts are the appropriate tribunals, as this court 

has repeatedly held, for the decision of questions arising 

under their local law, whether statutory or otherwise.  Id. at 

626.  Independent interpretation of state constitutional 

provisions is especially important since the Supreme Court 

began not finding independent and adequate state grounds 

for decisions so as to prevent states from expanding, not 

limiting, federally guaranteed rights.  Finally, failure to 

independently interpret the state constitution effectively 

repeals or renders moot the state constitutional provisions, 

and allows the Supreme Court, nine appointed justices who 

are not responsible to this state's electorate, to have the 

final say on our state constitutional rights. 

 

Heitman v. State, 815 S.W.2d 681, 687-88 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) (emphasis in original). 

The second basis for the circuit court’s ruling was that Johnson’s due process 

claim is barred due to res judicata.  That is incorrect.  With regard to the four elements 

which must be present for res judicata to be implicated, Johnson concedes that there was 

a final judgment on the merits in an earlier action (element (1)) and that the parties are 

the same (element (3)).  However, the record is clear that the question decided in the 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1874195655&pubNum=780&originatingDoc=I4e5a208ce7d511d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1874195655&pubNum=780&originatingDoc=I4e5a208ce7d511d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1874195655&originatingDoc=I4e5a208ce7d511d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1874195655&originatingDoc=I4e5a208ce7d511d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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former action is not the same as the one decided in this action (element (2)) and that there 

was not a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues in the prior proceeding (element 

4)).  See Farmer v. S.D. Dept. of Revenue and Regulation, 2010 S.D. 35, ¶ 9, 781 N.W.2d 

655, 659.   

 With regard to element (2), Johnson’s State Constitution due process claim was 

not a “question decided” in the federal action.  First, the District Court did not 

specifically address Johnson’s State Constitution due process claim.  Rather, the District 

Court granted the Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on Johnson’s § 1983 claim, 

but specifically stated that “the state law claims in Plaintiffs’ complaint are remanded to 

state court.”  SR at 83.  Second, given that South Dakota has not yet recognized such a 

cause of action, the fact that the District Court did not address Johnson’s State 

Constitution due process claim, and the fact that no analytical framework has been 

adopted to evaluate such a claim, it cannot be said that Johnson’s State Constitution due 

process claim was a “question decided in the former action.” 

Element (4) is not met because there are new facts that came to light after the 

District Court ruled and which it therefore did not have the benefit of.  A cornerstone of 

res judicata is the requirement that “there was a full and fair opportunity to litigate the 

issues in the prior proceeding.”  Farmer, 2010 S.D. 35, ¶ 9 (quoting Interest of L.S., 2006 

S.D. 76, ¶ 22, 721 N.W2d 83).  When new facts arise after the prior proceeding, there 

could not have been a “full and fair opportunity” to litigate those facts, and the doctrine 

of res judicata may be not be applied.  See Lewton v. McCauley, 460 N.W.2d 728, 731 

(S.D. 1990); Interest of L.S., 2006 S.D. 76, ¶ 50, 721 N.W.2d 83, 97.  
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 The circuit court was provided with new facts that were not part of the federal 

court proceeding.  Specifically, the circuit court was provided with the affidavit 

testimony of Michael E. Thomas (discussed at page 15, supra), whose affidavit was 

received some six months after the District Court had ruled in the federal action.  SR at 

68, 2483.  Because Thomas’ testimony was not received until after the District Court 

ruled, there are new facts that were not litigated in the prior proceeding.  Thus, res 

judicata is inapplicable. 

CONCLUSION 

 Based upon the foregoing, Johnson respectfully requests that this Court reverse 

the circuit court’s Judgment. 

 Dated this 12
th

 day of July, 2016. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

Attorneys for Appellants Estate of Ronald E. 

Johnson and Lynette K. Johnson 

 

HELSPER, MCCARTY & RASMUSSSEN, PC 
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Donald M. McCarty 
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th
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Tel:  605.692.7775 

E-mail:  donmccarty@lawinsd.com 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 

 The circuit court, the Honorable Mark E. Salter, entered a memorandum opinion 

and order dated February 9, 2016, granting summary judgment.  (SR2978.)  The order 

was filed on February 10, 2016.   The circuit court entered judgment dated February 16, 

2016.  (SR3012.)  Notice of entry of judgment was filed February 17, 2016.  (SR3010.)  

Plaintiffs the Estate of Ronald E. Johnson, by and through its Personal Representative, 

Lynette Johnson, and Lynette Johnson, individually (collectively “Johnson”) filed a 

timely notice of appeal on March 16, 2016.  (SR3043.)  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 

1. After the murder of correctional officer Ron Johnson while he was on duty, 

various employees of the Department of Corrections voluntarily wrote and 

published an after-incident report to the public explaining the facts related to the 

murder and steps taken since the murder.  Johnson contends that the report 

omitted relevant facts concerning Ron’s death and was drafted in an effort to 

cover up the involvement of some of the DOC employees she sued.  In writing 

and publishing the after-incident report, were any of the Appellees guilty of 

extreme and outrageous conduct that was beyond all possible bounds of decency 

and properly regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized 

community? 

 

The circuit court held that whether writing and publishing the report was extreme 

and outrageous is a question initially for the court, and that the alleged 

misstatements and omissions from the report failed to meet the “rigorous 

benchmark” for extreme and outrageous conduct sufficient to create tort liability. 

 

 Fix v. First State Bank of Roscoe, 2011 S.D. 80, 807 N.W.2d 612 

2. Johnson claimed that the after-incident report was written with the intent to 

deceive her and for the purpose of inducing her to act upon it, and that she 

justifiably relied on the after-incident report, which are two of the necessary 

elements to establish fraudulent misrepresentation.  Johnson argues that some of 

the DOC officials intended to induce her to refrain from holding any DOC official 

responsible for Ron’s death, but she did not believe the report and later filed this 

lawsuit seeking to hold the Appellees accountable for Ron’s death.  Given these 

inherently contradictory positions, is there any factual question whether Johnson 

could prove both the fourth and fifth elements of misrepresentation? 
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The circuit court held that Johnson presented no evidence that any Appellee 

intended to deceive her or to induce her to act upon the report, and that Johnson 

presented no evidence that she relied on the report. 

 

North American Truck & Trailer v. M.C.I. Com. Serv., 2008 S.D. 45, 751 N.W.2d 

710 

 Delka v. Continental Cas. Co., 2008 S.D. 28, 748 N.W.2d 140 

 RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS §§ 537, 546 

 

3. Johnson receives workers compensation benefits on account of her husband’s 

death, but contends that she should be allowed to sue for a violation of the Due 

Process Clause of the South Dakota Constitution.  Johnson argues that the liability 

standard for such a claim would be less than intentional conduct.  Is such a state 

constitutional claim by a recipient of workers-compensation benefits barred by 

SDCL § 62-3-2, which precludes tort claims “on account of” an employee’s 

death, and which excepts only claims based on intentional conduct? 

 

 The circuit court did not address this argument, which was briefed. 

 

 Harn v. Continental Lumber Co., 506 N.W.2d 91 (S.D. 1993) 

Estate of Johnson v. Weber, 785 F.3d 267 (8
th

 Cir. 2015) 

 

4. Despite receiving workers compensation benefits on account of her husband’s 

death, Johnson sought to recover through two tort claims, the intentional infliction 

of emotional distress and fraudulent misrepresentation, both of which were based 

on the DOC’s after-incident report.  Johnson claims that she was injured by the 

official reporting of the events related to her husband’s death.  Are claims based 

on reporting about an employee’s death “rights and remedies  . . . on account of 

such injury or death” and therefore barred by SDCL § 62-3-2? 

 

 The circuit court did not address this argument, which was briefed. 

  

Fryer v. Kranz, 2000 S.D. 125, 616 N.W.2d 102 

Hagemann v. NJS Eng’g, Inc., 2001 S.D. 102 632 NW.2d 840 

 

5. Johnson contends that she pleaded a violation of South Dakota’s due-process 

claim in her complaint under the heading “Count 3—42 U.S.C. § 1983,” and that 

such a claim would differ from her federal constitutional claim, which was 

litigated in federal court and dismissed with prejudice.  Did the circuit court 

correctly conclude that this claim failed as a matter of law for multiple reasons?  

 

The circuit court held that a state constitutional claim under the Due Process 

Clause would not differ from a federal constitutional claim, and that res judicata 

barred such a claim.  It alternatively held that no such claim had been pleaded, 

South Dakota courts cannot recognize such a claim, and sovereign immunity 

would bar the claim in this case.  



 3 

 

 

SD Const. Art. III, § 27 

Adrian v. Vonk, 2011 S.D. 84, 807 N.W.2d 119 

Taylor v. Sturgell, 553 U.S. 880 (2008) 

Clay v. Weber, 2007 S.D. 45, 733 N.W.2d 278 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS 

 

This case began in state court on April 27, 2012.  Johnson’s complaint pleaded six 

claims, which have been significantly narrowed during the four years of this litigation.  

The Defendants removed the case to federal court where summary judgment was granted 

on Johnson’s federal constitutional claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count 3) by Judge 

Piersol and affirmed on appeal.  Johnson’s state-law claims were remanded.  (Appellees’ 

App. 044.)
1
 Defendants moved for summary judgment.  The circuit court granted this 

motion, and Johnson has not appealed the summary judgment on her state-law wrongful 

death (Count 1), survival (Count 2), and negligent inflication of emotional distress (Count 

5) claims.  Consequently, this appeal concerns only Johnson’s claim for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress (IIED) (Count 4) and fraudulent 

misrepresentation/nondisclosure (Count 6).  Johnson also urges the Court to adopt a new 

claim based on the South Dakota Constitution, but no such claim was pleaded in 

Johnson’s complaint.    

Ron Johnson worked at the South Dakota State Penitentiary for almost 24 years.  

(SR114 ¶ 2; SR1265 ¶ 2.)  He was murdered while at work by inmates Rodney Berget 

and Eric Robert on his 63
rd

 birthday, April 12, 2011.  (Id.)  Robert and Berget assaulted 

Ron at his post in the Prison Industries building, took part of his uniform, and attempted 

to escape through the West Gate of the SDSP, where they were apprehended.  (SR117 ¶ 

                                                 
1
  Copies of the district court’s decision dismissing the federal claim and the Eighth 

Circuit’s decision affirming the dismissal are included in the Appellees’ appendix.  
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12; SR1266 ¶ 12.)  Both Robert and Berget were charged with first-degree murder, both 

pleaded guilty, and both were sentenced to death.  Robert was executed on October 15, 

2012; Berget remains on death row.  (SR117 ¶¶ 13-14; SR1266 ¶¶ 13-14.) 

Johnson’s federal claim contended that Robert and Berget should not have been 

housed at the SDSP, and should not have had jobs as orderlies off their unit.  In 

particular, she claimed that: 

• as of the date of the murder, they were both classified as maximum 

custody inmates, and should have been housed at the Jameson Annex 

 

 • even though the classification policy allowed them to be housed at the 

SDSP based on the warden’s discretionary decision, they should not have 

been housed there because: 

 

  • they were both convicted of violent offenses (kidnapping, and 

kidnapping and attempted murder) 

  • Berget had a lengthy history of escapes and escape attempts 

 

  • Robert was disciplined for an escape attempt while incarcerated in 

2007 

 

 • the DOC’s classification policy was violated because: 

 

  • a placement form was not completed when Berget was initially 

moved to the SDSP in 2004 

  • three of seven of Berget’s classification documents required five 

signatures for the placement based on the warden’s discretion, but 

had only two 

  • the narratives explaining why the classification decisions were 

made were not sufficiently descriptive 

 

 • the orderly jobs to which Robert and Berget were assigned gave them too 

much freedom of movement 

  

 • Warden Weber moved Robert and Berget to the SDSP in exchange for 

their agreement to end hunger strikes, which violated DOC policy. 

 

In dismissing Johnson’s federal claim, the district court and the Eighth Circuit 

considered these facts and held that they were insufficient as a matter of law to establish a 
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federal constitutional violation.  (Appellees’ App. 043 & 051.)  At issue on appeal, by 

contrast, are two of Johnson’s state-law claims based on the DOC’s after-incident report.  

Thus, the extended statement of the facts in Johnson’s brief, which focuses on events 

occurring years before Ron’s murder, is largely irrelevant to this appeal.  That being said, 

it is undisputed that:  (1) Robert and Berget had no institutional history of violence and 

neither threatened staff in the days before April 12, 2011 (SR133 ¶¶ 72-73; SR1282 ¶¶ 

72-73; SR120 ¶ 24; SR1269 ¶ 24); (2) their criminal and escape histories were not 

statistically good predictors that they might assault and kill a correctional officer (SR139 

¶¶ 97, 100; SR1285-86 ¶¶ 97, 100); (3) no one warned any of the Appellees that either 

was likely to assault and kill a correctional officer in April, 2011 (SR137-38 ¶¶ 91, 92, 

94; SR1285 ¶¶ 91, 92, 94); (4) no one had any advance knowledge of what happened on 

April 12, 2011; and (5) Robert and Berget were housed at the SDSP based on multiple 

administrative decisions occurring over a course of years that were authorized by statute 

and DOC policy.  (SR135 ¶ 79; SR1283 ¶ 79; SR126 ¶ 43; SR1277 ¶ 43.) 

With respect to the after-incident report, it is an 18-page document with six 

attachments, prepared at the direction of Troy Ponto, an associate warden, and Jennifer 

Wagner, the DOC’s corrections and program contracts manager, to document what 

happened on April 12, 2011, and what steps were taken after the incident to ensure that 

such a murder would not happen again.  A copy of the report is in the appendix to this 

brief.  (Appellees’ App. 001.)  The report is dated May 9, 2011.  It evolved into a public 

document, but Deputy Secretary Laurie Feiler testified that she did not expect from the 

outset that the report would be public.  (SR140 ¶ 101; SR1286 ¶ 101.)   
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The report was written by multiple people.  Wagner and Ponto wrote the initial 

draft, which was then reviewed, edited, and revised by many people in Pierre, including 

Feiler and staff in the Governor’s office.  (SR140 ¶ 102; SR1286 ¶ 102.)  The draft was 

also reviewed with senior staff at the SDSP, including Warden Weber, Associate Warden 

Darin Young, and Deputy Warden Daryl Slykhuis.  (Id.)  Many drafts were circulated 

and reviewed before the document was completed.  (Id.)  The report was published on the 

DOC’s website, where it was available to the public.  (SR140 ¶ 101; SR1286 ¶ 101.) 

ARGUMENT 

 

 Johnson appeals from summary judgment on three claims: (1) intentional 

infliction of emotional distress (IIED); (2) fraudulent misrepresentation; (3) and denial of 

substantive due process.  In a thorough opinion, the circuit court dismissed the IIED 

claim because the alleged conduct was not extreme and outrageous.  (App. B17-B18.)  It 

dismissed the fraudulent misrepresentation claim because there was no evidence the 

Defendants induced Johnson to rely on the report.  (Id. at B19-B20.)  The circuit court 

dismissed the substantive due process claim based on res judicata and multiple alternative 

grounds.   

 The Court reviews a circuit court’s grant of summary judgment under the de novo 

standard of review.  Heitmann v. Am. Fam. Mut. Ins. Co., 2016 S.D. 51, ¶ 8, __ N.W.2d 

__ (quoting Ass Kickin Ranch, LLC v. Star Mut. Ins. Co., 2012 S.D. 73, ¶ 7, 822 N.W.2d 

724, 726).  On review of a grant of summary judgment, the Court must “decide ‘whether 

genuine issues of material fact exist and whether the law was correctly applied.’”  Id. 

(quoting Ass Kickin Ranch, 2012 S.D. 73, ¶ 6).  “We will affirm a circuit court’s decision 

so long as there is a legal basis to support its decision.”  Id. 
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1. Writing and publishing the after-incident report was not extreme and 

outrageous. 

 

  To establish IIED, Johnson must prove all four elements of the tort:  (1) an act by 

the defendant amounting to extreme and outrageous conduct; (2) intent on the part of the 

defendant to cause the plaintiff severe emotional distress; (3) the defendant’s conduct was 

the cause in fact of plaintiff’s distress; and (4) the plaintiff suffered an extreme disabling 

emotional response to defendant’s conduct.  Fix v. First State Bank of Roscoe, 2011 S.D. 

80, ¶ 19, 807 N.W.2d 612, 618.  Whether conduct is extreme and outrageous under the 

first element “is initially for the trial court.”  Id.  Proof of such conduct “must exceed a 

rigorous benchmark.”  Id.  The conduct must be “so outrageous in character, and so 

extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and be regarded as 

atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.”  RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF 

TORTS § 46, cmt. d (1964).   

The circuit court held that Johnson failed to prove either the first or second 

element.  (App. B17-B18.)  As to the first, the circuit court held that the statements and 

omissions from the incident report, assumed to be self-serving and inaccurate, did not 

exceed the “rigorous benchmark” for extreme and outrageous conduct.  (Id.)  As to the 

second, the circuit court found no showing that any of the parties “drafted and published 

the Incident Report in a calculated effort to cause Mrs. Johnson serious mental distress.”  

(Id. at B18.)  On appeal, Johnson contends that there were jury questions, that a court can 

infer intent from the evidence, and that the relationship between the parties is relevant to 

the inquiry.  (Appellants’ Br. at 21-22.)  Johnson’s argument fails for several reasons. 

First, Johnson’s brief does not cite to any facts in the record that could be 

construed as extreme and outrageous conduct.  The facts alleged in Johnson’s complaint 
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are based on what the after-incident report did not disclose, including “all of the events 

leading up to RJ’s murder, particularly the decisions that [the DOC] made which resulted 

in Berget and Robert being outside of South Dakota’s maximum security facility.”  

(SR17 ¶¶ 91-92.)  On appeal, Johnson’s brief identifies three areas in which she contends 

the after-incident report was inaccurate:  (1) it did not mention that Robert and Berget 

had both engaged several times in hunger strikes; (2) it incorrectly stated that staff 

followed all policies and procedures; and (3) it misused a classification term, 

“administrative decision.”  (Appellants’ Br. at 18-19.)  The facts in the record on these 

issues do not demonstrate extreme and outrageous conduct.   

The hunger strikes that Johnson argues should have been mentioned occurred in 

2004 and 2009, years before the murder.  (SR126 ¶¶ 43, 46; SR135 ¶ 79; SR1277 ¶ 43; 

SR1278 ¶ 46; SR1283 ¶ 79.)  They were not mentioned in the after-incident report 

because they were not, as the district court held in dismissing Johnson’s federal claim, 

relevant to the murder.  (Appellees’ App. 042 (assuming that facts related to hunger 

strikes and the suggestion that Warden Weber made deals with Robert and Berget were 

true, facts were too far removed in time to establish a substantial risk of serious, 

immediate, and proximate harm as required to prove liability).)   

Johnson contends that the statement that all policies and procedures were 

followed was wrong because some classification documents had not been properly 

completed even if the warden had discretion to make the transfers at issue.  Corrections 

officials who were deposed disagreed whether the paperwork errors meant the statement 

in the after-incident report was correct.  But even assuming arguendo that the statement 

was inaccurate, mistakenly stating that all policies were followed when there were 



 9 

 

actually some instances when paperwork did not contain a sufficient number of 

signatures falls far short of extreme and outrageous conduct.   

With respect to the third issue, the after-incident report refers to “administrative 

factors” under DOC Policy 1.4.B.2, which is different than an “administrative decision,” 

which is the basis in the classification policy on which Berget and Robert were housed at 

the SDSP.  (SR893.)  Feiler testified that she “maybe created some confusion when we 

used the word administrative factors,” and that she “kind of commingled what is 

commonly known as administrative factors or administrative placement with 

administrative decision.”  (Id.)  But the imprecise use of a specialized term in a published 

report is not extreme and outrageous conduct.   

Ultimately, including certain facts in, and excluding others from, a published 

report after the murder of a State employee does not constitute extreme and outrageous 

conduct that is beyond all possible bounds of decency.  As the circuit court held, “[a]t 

most, the Incident Report was the DOC’s parochial view of Mr. Johnson’s murder that 

fell short of full disclosure.”  (App. B18.)  Johnson’s brief cites to no other facts as the 

basis for her claim.  

Second, Johnson’s brief cites no authority, from South Dakota or anywhere else, 

supporting her argument that not including certain facts in a public report can constitute 

extreme and outrageous conduct.  By comparison, this Court held in Fix that a bank’s 

conduct in failing to abide by the terms of a written promise that an elderly woman could 

continue to live in her house even if the bank became the owner of it was not extreme and 

outrageous conduct.  2011 S.D. 80, ¶ 21, 807 N.W.2d at 618-19.  Even assuming that the 

bank “intentionally reneged on its promise,” the Court held that the conduct was not 
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extreme and outrageous, and therefore affirmed summary judgment.  Johnson’s brief 

does not mention this decision, on which the circuit court relied.  It would be 

incongruous, if not impossible, to reconcile a decision in Johnson’s favor on this issue 

with the decision in Fix.
2
 

Third, Johnson argues that the relationship between the parties is relevant, that the 

DOC officials knew that Johnson was traumatized by and grieving as a result of her 

husband’s murder, and that “the Defendants were both the employer and a government 

agency.”  (Appellants’ Br. at 22-23.)  Johnson’s brief cites no South Dakota cases in 

support of these two arguments.  The Restatement addresses the relationship of the 

parties in comment e, which describes the relevant relationship as one “which gives [the 

actor] actual or apparent authority over the other, or power to affect his interests.”  

RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 46, cmt. e.  The examples are police officers, school 

authorities, landlords, and collecting creditors.  Id.  Here, although the State was Ron 

Johnson’s employer, there was no relationship between the State and Lynette Johnson 

giving the State authority over her or the power to affect her interests.  The only 

relationship is that the State pays workers compensation benefits to Lynette Johnson as 

Ron Johnson’s widow, but her claim for IIED is unrelated to the payment of benefits.   

The only South Dakota case involving an employment relationship cited in Johnson’s 

brief is Kjerstad v. Ravellette Pub. Co., 517 N.W.2d 419 (S.D. 1994), in which an 

                                                 
2
  The public nature of the after-incident report, which was written and published by the 

DOC, suggests that the report constitutes public speech protected by the First 

Amendment, which would preclude a verdict based on IIED.  See Snyder v. Phelps, 131 

S. Ct. 1207, 1215-19 (2011) (reversing verdict against Westboro Baptist Church founder 

based on intentional infliction of emotional distress due to protests at military funeral 

because speech was of public concern and therefore protected by First Amendment).    
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employer spied on employees using the bathroom.  The case did not discuss the 

employment relationship, but focused on the nature of the conduct involved.       

As for the argument that Johnson was vulnerable, the same could be said of Rita 

Fix when she was put out of her house by the First State Bank of Roscoe.  Johnson relies 

on Wangen v. Knudson, 428 N.W.2d 242 (S.D. 1988), in which the Court affirmed an 

IIED verdict in favor of a plaintiff who was suffering from and being treated for severe 

depression.  The Court held that the fact of treatment and severe depression were known 

to the plaintiff’s employer, which was relevant to whether the employer’s conduct was 

extreme and outrageous.  Id. at 248.  Johnson did not plead any analogous facts to 

establish that when the after-incident report was written, she was suffering from and 

treating for severe depression, that the officials responsible for writing the report had 

knowledge of her condition, and that they therefore reasonably should have known that 

the alleged omissions from the after-incident report would cause severe emotional 

distress based on Johnson’s condition.  Moreover, the after-incident report was not 

addressed to or directed at Johnson.  It was a public accounting of what happened.  

Johnson’s claims that it was incomplete or self-serving are legally insufficient to establish 

that it was extreme and outrageous. 

Finally, Johnson argues that the circuit court’s decision erred in stating that “there 

is no showing that the Defendants drafted and published the Incident Report in a 

calculated effort to cause Mrs. Johnson serious mental distress” because the second 

element of her claim, intent to cause severe emotional distress, can be proved by reckless 

conduct.  (App. B18; Appellants’ Br. at 23.)   The circuit court’s memorandum opinion, 

however, addresses the fact that the report was not directed at or addressed to Lynette 
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Johnson and concludes that Johnson’s own arguments defeated her claim that the report 

was intended to deceive her.  (App. B18.)  Johnson cites to no contrary evidence 

establishing the sort of reckless conduct necessary to prove this element of the tort.  

(Appellants’ Br. at 23.)  

Ultimately, Johnson cites to no case, in South Dakota or elsewhere, based on 

which this Court could hold that alleged omissions from a public report describing and 

assessing the facts and circumstances that led to the murder of a correctional officer can 

constitute extreme and outrageous conduct sufficient to establish the intentional infliction 

of emotional distress.  The circuit court properly granted summary judgment. 

2. The after-incident report does not support a claim for fraudulent 

misrepresentation. 

 

 Johnson argues that certain statements in the after-incident report were false and 

were intentionally or recklessly made with the intent to deceive Lynette Johnson to her 

detriment.  (Appellants’ Br. at 23-27.)   To establish fraudulent misrepresentation, 

Johnson had to prove six elements: 

 (1) a defendant made a representation as a statement of fact; 

 (2) the representation was untrue; 

(3) the defendant knew the representation was untrue or he made the 

representation recklessly;  

 

(4) the defendant made the representation with intent to deceive the plaintiff 

and for the purpose of inducing the plaintiff to act upon it; and 

 

 (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and 

 (6) the plaintiff suffered damage as a result. 

North American Truck and Trailer v. M.C. I. Com. Serv., 2008 S.D. 45, ¶ 10, 751 N.W.2d 

710, 714; Delka v. Continental Cas. Co., 2008 S.D. 28, ¶ 30, 748 N.W.2d 140, 152.   The 
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circuit court correctly granted summary judgment because Johnson offered no evidence 

that any Defendant intended to deceive Johnson, or that Johnson justifiably relied on the 

report.  (App. B19-B20.) 

Based on the evidence and her argument on appeal, Johnson cannot prove both 

the fourth and fifth elements of the tort.  “‘[S]ummary judgment is proper [when a 

plaintiff] produces no evidence of deceitful intent on [defendant’s] part.’”  Delka, 2008 

S.D. 28, ¶ 31, 748 N.W.2d at 152 (quoting Garrett v. BankWest, Inc., 459 N.W.2d 833, 

847 (S.D. 1990)).  Johnson contends that Deputy Secretary Laurie Feiler’s testimony that 

the DOC knew “early on” that it was “going to share the contents of the report” with 

Lynette is evidence of deceitful intent, as is Secretary Kaemingk’s testimony that he 

thought that Lynette could rely on the report.  (Appellants’ Br. at 25.)  But evidence that 

they knew Johnson would read the report is not evidence of intent to deceive.   

Johnson has to prove not only that the persons who wrote the report intended to 

deceive her, but also that they intended to induce her to act upon the deceit.  North 

American Truck & Trailer, 2008 S.D. ¶ 10, 751 N.W.2d at 714.  Johnson argues that the 

report “failed to disclose many of the basic facts which actually led to the death of Ron 

Johnson,” although her brief does not cite to the record for this statement.  (Appellants’ 

Br. at 25.)  Her theory is that the Defendants wanted to cover up their involvement in 

classification decisions, housing assignments, and job assignments that she contends were 

responsible for the murder, to “deceive Lynette Johnson and induce her to refrain from 

blaming or otherwise seeking to hold the Defendants accountable for the murder of her 

husband.”  Id.  Assuming for the sake of argument that this is a reasonable inference from 

the evidence, it cannot save Johnson’s claim.  Rather, it would make it impossible for her 
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to prove the next element, that she “justifiably relied on the representation.”  North 

American Truck & Trailer, 2008 S.D. ¶ 10, 751 N.W.2d at 714.  Johnson obviously took 

issue with the incident report, did not believe it, and filed this lawsuit against the 

Defendants in which she accused them of misleading her.  She did not refrain either from 

blaming them or from seeking to hold them accountable.  In other words, she did not rely 

on the report. 

The circuit court found that there was no evidence in the record of deceitful 

intent.  If this Court concludes otherwise, Johnson must still prove reliance, which 

logically she cannot because this lawsuit and the allegations she has made concerning 

intent show she did not rely on the report.  The circuit court noted that there was no 

particular statement in Johnson’s complaint and no explanation in her briefing about how 

she relied on the incident report to her detriment, and concluded that she had failed even 

to comply with SDCL § 15-6-9(b).  (App. B20.)  Johnson’s response on appeal is to cite a 

treating psychiatrist’s report that she suffered trauma from her husband’s murder and the 

Defendants’ subsequent misrepresentations.  (Appellants’ Br. at 26-27.)  This argument 

fails for three fundamental reasons.  First, it confuses the fifth element (justifiable 

reliance) and sixth element (damage as a result) of the tort.  They are separate and 

distinct.  Second, reliance requires action or a failure to act.  “The recipient of a 

fraudulent misrepresentation can recover against its maker for pecuniary loss resulting 

from it if, but only if, (a) he relies on the misrepresentation in acting or refraining from 

action . . . .”  RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 537.   Johnson did not refrain from 

acting based on the incident report.  To the extent that she acted by filing this lawsuit, she 

acted not in reliance on the report, but in opposition to it.  Third, the tort requires proof 
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that Johnson relied on, i.e., believed, the misrepresentation.  See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) 

OF TORTS § 546 (“The maker of a fraudulent misrepresentation is subject to liability for 

pecuniary loss suffered by one who justifiably relies upon the truth of the matter 

misrepresented, if his reliance is a substantial factor in determining the course of conduct 

that results in his loss (emphasis added).”)  The medical testimony that Johnson cites in 

her brief does not establish that she ever believed the report.  It shows she was distraught 

because she did not believe the incident report:  “‘She alleges that deliberate 

misinformation that has the appearance of a cover-up has aggravated her psychiatric 

state.’”  (Appellants’ Br. at 26 (quoting SR2834).)  This is the opposite of justifiable 

reliance. 

 In attempting to respond on appeal to the circuit court’s dismissal of her fraud 

claim, Johnson has only confirmed that the claim makes no sense.  In addition to a 

misrepresentation of fact, proof of fraud requires evidence that the person to whom the 

misrepresentation was made believed it to be true, acted or refrained from acting based 

on that belief, and was injured as a result.  Johnson contends, by contrast, that she did not 

believe the misrepresentations in the incident report to be true, that she filed a lawsuit 

based on her unbelief, and that she was injured by, as her psychiatrist, put it, her sense of 

“betrayal” (Appellants’ Br. at 26), not by her acting in reliance on the misrepresentation.   

Concluding that Johnson presented a submissible case of fraud on these facts would be 

unprecedented. 

 Finally, Johnson contends that the Appellees did not argue lack of reliance to the 

circuit court.  (Appellants’ Br. at 27.)  To the contrary, Defendants raised this argument 

below.   (SR2912 (“Proof of fraud also requires evidence that Johnson relied on the report 
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to her injury.”).)  Johnson did not object to this issue being raised in a reply brief.  To the 

contrary, at the hearing she argued that the Defendants’ report omissions had successfully 

misled her and, when that statement was challenged by the circuit court, argued that she 

had relied on the report in various ways.  (SR3133.)  After the hearing, Johnson did not 

ask for an opportunity to further address reliance, even though the circuit court requested 

supplemental briefing on another issue.  (SR2926.)  On appeal, Johnson identifies no 

evidence concerning reliance that she possessed but was unable to present to the circuit 

court.  Any error related to the presentation of this issue would be harmless given the 

inescapable contradiction between the requirement of reliance and (1) Johnson’s 

contention that the misrepresentations in the report harmed her precisely because she 

recognized them to be untrue, and (2) her decision to pursue this lawsuit. 

3. Whether South Dakota should recognize a tort based on its own Due Process 

Clause is moot because, in this case, such a tort would be barred by workers-

compensation immunity. 

 

 Johnson asks this Court to recognize a new tort claim for violations of substantive 

due process based on South Dakota’s Due Process Clause.  The Court may avoid this 

constitutional issue, however, because, as couched by Johnson, a state substantive due-

process claim concerning Ron’s death would be barred by workers-compensation 

immunity.
3
   

 Johnson received, and continues to receive, workers-compensation benefits for 

Ron’s death.  Receipt of these benefits excludes “all other rights and remedies of the 

employee, the employee’s personal representatives, dependents, or next of kin, on 

                                                 
3
  The circuit court did not rely on this argument, which was briefed below, but this Court 

may affirm summary judgment for any valid reason.  BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. 

Trancynger, 2014 S.D. 22, ¶ 18, 847 N.W.2d 137, 142. 
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account of such injury or death.”  SDCL § 62-3-2.  Johnson’s receipt of survivor benefits 

therefore precludes her in her individual capacity and as the personal representative of his 

estate from “all other rights and remedies . . . on account of [Ron’s] injury or death.”  Id. 

 The rationale for substituting workers-compensation benefits for the remedies 

provided by state-law based civil torts “is to provide an injured employee a remedy which 

is both expeditious and independent of proof of fault.”  Harn v. Continental Lumber Co., 

506 N.W.2d 91, 95 (S.D. 1993).  It also provides “employers and co-employees [with] a 

liability which is limited and determinate.”  Id.  To ensure that these legislative purposes 

are fulfilled, this Court “construes worker’s compensation statutes liberally to provide 

coverage even when the worker would prefer to avoid it.”  Id.  Johnson provides no 

persuasive reason why civil torts based on alleged violations of the South Dakota 

Constitution should not be subject to workers-compensation immunity, just like other 

state-law based civil torts. 

 The state substantive due-process tort that Johnson asks this Court to recognize is 

expressly made on account of Ron Johnson’s death.  (SR21 ¶ 113.)  The workers-

compensation immunity statute clearly and unambiguously excludes “all other rights and 

remedies . . . on account of such injury or death.”  SDCL § 62-3-2 (emphasis added).  

The only exception is for intentional torts.   See id.  “‘When the language in a statute is 

clear, certain, and unambiguous, there is no need for construction, and this Court’s only 

function is to declare the meaning of the statute as clearly expressed.’”  Puetz Corp. v. 

South Dakota Dep’t of Revenue, 2015 S.D. 82, ¶ 16, 871 N.W.2d 632, 637 (quoting State 

v. Clark, 2011 S.D. 20, ¶ 5, 798 N.W.2d 160, 164).  As this Court has recognized, if “the 

Legislature desired to limit the application and effect of SDCL § 63-3-2, it certainly 
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knows how to do so.”  Hageman v. NJS Eng’g, Inc., 2001 S.D. 102, ¶ 6 n.4, 632 N.W.2d 

840, 844 n.4.  The Legislature unambiguously chose to exclude all remedies except 

intentional torts, leaving no room to permit civil torts based on state constitutional 

provisions that are not intentional torts.
4
   

 As argued by Johnson, her proposed substantive due-process claim would not 

qualify for SDCL § 63-3-2’s intentional-tort exception.  The federal courts have already 

held that, as a matter of law, Johnson cannot prove that Defendants’ conduct shocked the 

conscience under the state-created danger theory of substantive due process.  (Appellees’ 

App. 051.)  Johnson therefore asks not only that this Court recognize a new tort, she 

argues that the elements of the new tort should be less restrictive than the Eighth Circuit’s 

conscience-shocking standard.  (Appellants’ Brief at 31.)  Although Johnson has never 

identified what elements this new tort should have, any test less restrictive than the 

Eighth Circuit’s conscience-shocking standard would necessarily fail to satisfy the 

intentional-tort exception, and would be barred by workers-compensation immunity. 

 As noted by Johnson, in the Eighth Circuit, a plaintiff alleging a substantive due 

process claim based on the state-created danger theory must satisfy a five-part test.  

(Appellees’ App. 049.)  The fifth element is that “in total, the [defendants’] conduct 

‘shocks the conscience.’”  (Id.)  Because this case involved circumstances where the 

Defendants had time to deliberate, this required Johnson to prove that the Defendants 

acted with “deliberate indifference” to Ron’s safety.  (Id. at 050.)  Deliberate indifference 

means that the defendant “‘was aware of facts from which the inference could be drawn 

                                                 
4
  Johnson’s Section 1983 claim based on the federal Due Process Clause was not subject 

to workers-compensation immunity because federal law trumps state-law based 

immunities.  Martinez v. California, 444 U.S. 277, 284 (1980) (conduct wrongful under 

Section 1983 cannot be immunized by state law).  
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that a substantial risk of serious harm exists, and he must also draw the inference.’”  (Id. 

(quoting Moore v. Briggs, 381 F.3d 771, 773-74 (8
th

 Cir. 2004)).  It is equivalent to 

criminal recklessness.  Moore, 381 F.3d at 773.  Johnson acknowledged that deliberate 

indifference is a lower level of intent than actual intent to harm in her Eighth Circuit 

Reply Brief.  (Appellees’ App. 081 at n.3.) 

 Johnson’s request that this Court adopt a test less stringent than awareness that “a 

substantial risk of serious harm exists” means that the tort she proposes would not qualify 

for the intentional-tort exception.  With regard to the intentional-tort exception, this Court 

has held “‘intent pointedly means intent.’”  McMillin v. Mueller, 2005 S.D. 41, ¶ 13, 695 

N.W.2d 217, 222 (quoting Harn, 506 N.W.2d at 95).  A worker must therefore prove at 

least “‘a substantial certainty that injury will be the inevitable outcome of employer’s 

conduct.’”  Id. (quoting Jensen v. Sport Bowl, Inc., 469 N.W.2d 370, 372 (S.D. 1991)) 

(emphasis added).  A substantial certainty that injury will inevitably follow is a more 

restrictive standard than the Eighth Circuit’s standard of deliberate indifference.   

 In addition, the Eighth Circuit has equated its standard with criminal recklessness.  

In contrast, this Court has held that even reckless conduct does not satisfy the intentional-

tort requirement.  Id. ¶ 14, 695 N.W.2d at 222 (“Moreover, even though the employer’s 

conduct is careless, grossly negligent, reckless or wanton . . . those acts still fall within 

the domain of workers’ compensation.”); Harn, 506 N.W.2d at 98 (“To establish an 

intentional tort of an employer, proof beyond that required to prove negligence and 

beyond that to prove recklessness must be established).  Accordingly, Johnson’s request 

that this Court adopt a less stringent substantive-due-process claim based on South 
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Dakota’s Constitution is futile because such a claim would be barred by workers-

compensation immunity.  

4. Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims should also be barred by 

workers-compensation immunity because they are claims “on account of” 

Ron’s death. 

 

Johnson’s claims for IIED and misrepresentation based on the allegation that the 

after-incident report misrepresented or omitted facts related to Ron’s murder should 

likewise be barred by workers-compensation immunity because they would not exist but 

for Ron’s death and there is a clear, strong nexus between these claims and Ron’s death.
5
  

The IIED and misrepresentation claims therefore are “on account of” Ron’s death.  If 

such claims are not barred, injured workers or their family members could obtain 

workers-compensation benefits and avoid workers-compensation immunity simply by 

alleging that misrepresentations were made by the employer concerning the 

circumstances of that injury or death. 

 As noted, workers-compensation benefits exclude “all other rights and remedies” 

of employees or their family members “on account of [the employee’s] injury or death.”  

SDCL § 62-3-2.  This Court has broadly construed the coverage terms providing benefits 

to employees and the corresponding immunity for employers.  Jensen, 469 N.W.2d at 

373  (“worker’s compensation law is to be liberally construed to provide coverage, even 

when the worker doesn’t want it”).  A liberal construction in favor of workers-

compensation benefits to the exclusion of tort liability “serves two important values:  (1) 

it maintains ‘the balance of sacrifices between employer and employee in the substitution 

                                                 
5
  The circuit court did not rely on this argument, which was briefed below, but this Court 

may affirm summary judgment for any reason appearing in the record.  BAC Home Loans 

Servicing, LP, 2014 S.D. 22, ¶ 18, 847 N.W.2d at 142.  
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of no-fault liability for tort liability,’ and (2) it minimizes ‘litigation, even litigation of 

undoubted merit.’”  Fryer v. Kranz, 2000 S.D. 125, ¶ 9, 616 N.W.2d 102, 105 (quoting 6 

Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law (MB) § 103.05[6] at 103-44 (May 2000)).  This 

“[e]xclusiveness imparts efficiency to the worker’s compensation system.”  Id.  

Consequently, “‘[e]very presumption is on the side of avoiding superimposing the 

complexities and uncertainties of tort litigation on the compensation process.’”  Id. 

(quoting 6 Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law (MB) § 103.05[6] at 103-44 (May 

2000)). 

 Accordingly, this Court has held that fault-based contribution or indemnity claims 

by third parties are claims “on account of” an employee’s injury or death and are barred 

by workers-compensation immunity.  Hagemann v. NJS Eng’g, Inc., 2001 S.D. 102, ¶ 8, 

632 N.W.2d 840, 845-46.  This Court recognized that, after an employer paid workers-

compensation benefits, permitting “[a]dditional exposure through the indirect method of 

a third-party action would be a blatant violation of expressed legislative policy.’”  Id. ¶ 6 

n.3, 632 N.W.2d at 844 n.3 (quoting Phillips v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 614 P.2d 153, 154 

(Utah 1980)).  In a concurring opinion, Chief Justice Gilbertson explained that a fault-

based “claim for contribution is intimately tied to, and ‘on account of personal injury or 

death.’”  Id. ¶ 15, 632 N.W.2d at 846 (Gilbertson, C.J., concurring in result).  In contrast, 

an indemnity claim based on a relationship, such as a contractual indemnity clause, “is 

not ‘on account of personal injury or death’” because it is “a separate cause of action that 

arises ‘independent of the underlying liability.’”  Id. ¶ 16, 632 N.W.2d at 847 

(Gilbertson, C.J., concurring in result). 
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 Here, Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims are intimately tied to Ron’s 

death.  Her misrepresentation claim alleges that the DOC had a duty “to be forthright and 

complete in their analysis and reporting of the events and circumstances which led to the 

murder of RJ.”  (SR23 ¶ 129.)  It further alleges that, by misrepresenting the 

circumstances of Ron’s death, Johnson suffered damages.  (SR24 ¶ 135.)  The IIED claim 

similarly alleges that the DOC engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct by 

inaccurately representing the circumstances of Ron’s death, and that the inaccuracies 

concerning Ron’s death caused Johnson to suffer severe emotional distress.  (SR21-SR22 

¶¶ 116-19.)   

 Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims are intimately tied to Ron’s death 

because they would not have arisen but for his death and there is a strong factual nexus 

between those claims and Ron’s death.  Liability for each claim depends on the assertion 

that the DOC misrepresented the circumstances of Ron’s death.  Moreover, the impact of 

these alleged misrepresentations--and thus Johnson’s damages--depends on the fact that 

they concerned the subject of Ron’s death.  Johnson’s own statement of the facts 

demonstrates the connection as she devotes 15 pages to the circumstances leading up to 

Ron’s death and less than two pages to the after-incident report.  (Appellants’ Brief at 3-

19.)  Moreover, Johnson admits that her “claims are based on the Defendants’ conduct 

that contributed to the death of Ron Johnson and the Defendants’ later efforts to cover up 

and misrepresent their involvement in the murder.”  (Id. at 20.)   

 In these circumstances, Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims are 

intimately tied to Ron’s death and therefore fall within the definition of claims “on 

account of” his death.  See Pittman v. W. Eng’g Co., 813 N.W.2d 487, 498 (Neb. 2012) 
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(Nebraska workers-compensation immunity barred husband’s NIED claim based on 

observing his wife’s body following her on-the-job death because it would not have 

arisen but for his spouse’s death and there was a clear, rational nexus between her death 

and his claim); Maney v. Louisiana Pac. Co., 15 P.3d 962, 968 (Mont. 2000) (Montana 

workers-compensation immunity barred mother’s IIED and NIED claims based on seeing 

his death in the hospital from workplace injuries because the claims would not have 

arisen but for her son’s death and there was a clear nexus between the workplace injury 

and the claims). 

 This conclusion does not require the Court to hold that all IIED or 

misrepresentation claims by an employee or family member receiving workers-

compensation benefits would be barred.  The policies underlying workers-compensation 

immunity would not apply to an IIED or misrepresentation claim unrelated to a covered 

injury or death.  Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims, however, have a clear and 

strong dependency on the circumstances of Ron’s death, and thus her receipt of workers-

compensation benefits should bar these claims.  Allowing family members to receive 

workers-compensation benefits and simultaneously pursue tort liability merely by 

alleging that an employer misrepresented the circumstances of a workplace injury or 

death would destroy the quid pro quo of employer immunity in exchange for employee 

benefits without fault.  Every presumption is against superimposing the complexities and 

uncertainties of tort litigation on the compensation process, and thus this Court should 

hold that Johnson’s claims are barred by workers-compensation immunity. 
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5. Johnson’s proposed new tort based on the South Dakota Constitution fails 

for multiple reasons in addition to workers-compensation immunity. 

 

 Although workers-compensation immunity provides a sufficient basis to affirm 

the summary judgment on Johnson’s proposed constitutional tort, the circuit court 

correctly identified multiple other reasons why that claim fails as a matter of law.  These 

reasons provide alternative grounds for this Court to affirm summary judgment on 

Johnson’s substantive due-process claim.   

 Taking the circuit court’s reasons in logical order, it first concluded that Count 3 

did not assert an independent substantive-due-process claim under the South Dakota 

Constitution.  (App. B29.)  Second, even if Johnson had asserted such a state-law claim, 

it held that the South Dakota “Legislature has not created a private right of action for the 

denial of due process under our Constitution, and this court lacks the authority to do so.”  

(App. B22 n.10.)  Third, the circuit court held that, assuming South Dakota would adopt a 

state-law claim, the underlying right to substantive due process would be the same as that 

provided by the United States Constitution.  (Id. B25-B26.)  Pursuant to res judicata, the 

claim preclusive effect of the federal court’s judgment on the Section 1983 substantive-

due-process claim therefore barred Johnson’s attempt to assert a claim based on the South 

Dakota Constitution’s virtually identical language.  (Id. B26.)  Last, if res judicata did not 

apply, the circuit court stated that sovereign immunity would bar Johnson’s proposed 

new tort just as it barred her wrongful-death and survival claims.  (Id. B22 n.10.)   

a. Johnson did not plead an independent claim based on South Dakota’s 

Due Process Clause. 

 

 The circuit court correctly determined that Count 3 of Johnson’s Complaint did 

not assert both a Section 1983 claim and an independent claim based on the South Dakota 
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Constitution.  Count 3 of Johnson’s complaint is titled “Count 3 – 42 U.S.C. § 1983.”  

(SR19 ¶¶ 105-106.)  In Count 3, the only express reference to a cause of action is “[t]hat 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides a civil cause of action.”  (SR19 ¶ 107.)  Count 3 also expressly 

refers to the state-created danger theory used by federal courts to evaluate Section 1983 

claims based on the United States Constitution’s Due Process Clause.  (SR20 ¶ 110.)  

During the federal court proceedings, the parties referred to Count 3 as a federal Section 

1983 claim.  (Appellees’ App. 055; Appellees’ App. 073, 074, & 075.) 

 When Johnson asked for her state-law claims to be remanded to state court, she 

listed five state-law claims that did not include a substantive due process claim based on 

the South Dakota Constitution:  “Johnson’s wrongful death (Count 1) and survival claim 

(Count 2) stem from Ron’s murder.  In contrast, Johnson’s claims for IIED (Count 4), 

NIED (Count 5), and misrepresentation / non-disclosure (Count 6) stem from the 

deceptive After-Incident Report.”  (Appellees’ App. 076-77.)  Similarly, on appeal, 

Johnson stated that she had alleged “a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and five state law 

claims.”  (Appellees’ App. 079.)  While litigating in federal court, Johnson never 

contended that Count 3 should also be remanded to state court because it included not 

only a Section 1983 claim but also a sixth state-law claim based on the South Dakota 

Constitution. 

 In addition, Johnson now contends not only that Count 3 should be construed to 

assert a claim based on the South Dakota Constitution, but that the elements of this claim 

should be different than the conscience-shocking test used in the Eighth Circuit to 

evaluate the state-created danger theory.  A review of Count 3, however, reveals that its 

substantive allegations are limited to the state-created danger theory.  (SR20 ¶¶ 110-12.)  
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If Johnson wished the circuit court or this Court to recognize a new tort based on the 

South Dakota Constitution with different elements than those used by the Eighth Circuit, 

it was incumbent upon Johnson to plead the elements of this proposed tort so that the 

Defendants could conduct discovery concerning those elements and present this Court 

with a complete record, including briefs concerning the wisdom of adopting the tort as 

proposed by Johnson.  For all these reasons, the circuit court correctly concluded that 

Johnson’s complaint did not allege an independent tort based on the South Dakota 

Constitution. 

b. The Legislature has not created a private cause of action for alleged 

violations of South Dakota’s Due Process Clause, so sovereign 

immunity precludes this Court from adopting Johnson’s proposed 

tort.  

 

 The circuit court correctly concluded that, even assuming arguendo that Johnson 

had pleaded a new tort based on South Dakota’s substantive Due Process Clause, the 

Legislature’s decision not to create a private cause of action for violations of that Clause 

means the courts should not adopt such a tort.  South Dakota’s Constitution includes 

sovereign immunity and gives the Legislature the discretion to decide when the State may 

be sued.  S.D. Const. Art. III, § 27 (“The Legislature shall direct by law in what manner 

and in what courts suits may be brought against the state.”).  For discretionary acts, “[a]n 

express waiver of sovereign immunity is required.”  Adrian v. Vonk, 807 N.W.2d 119, 

123 (S.D. 2011).  This means a constitutional provision or statute must expressly give 

plaintiffs the right to sue the State before civil torts are permitted.  Id.  Moreover, the 

authorization must identify in what manner and in what court suit may be brought against 

the State.  Id.   
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 South Dakota’s Due Process Clause merely states that “No person shall be 

deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.”  S.D. Const., Art. VI, § 

2.  It contains no language waiving sovereign immunity, no language permitting civil 

actions for a violation, and does not identify any method or court where a civil action 

could be brought for a substantive due process violation.  This means that the South 

Dakota courts are not free to recognize a new tort that would allow suits against the State 

based on alleged violations of South Dakota’s Due Process Clause. 

c. The circuit court correctly held that, pursuant to claim preclusion, the 

judgment on Johnson’s federal substantive-due-process claim barred 

her from pursuing another substantive-due-process claim based on 

the South Dakota Constitution. 

 

 The circuit court correctly concluded that the claim preclusion aspect of res 

judicata bars Johnson’s attempt to continue litigating a substantive due-process violation.  

“The preclusive effect of a federal-court judgment is determined by federal common 

law.”  Taylor v. Sturgell, 553 U.S. 880, 891 (2008).  The Eighth Circuit recognizes that 

one element of claim preclusion is that there must have been a “full and fair opportunity 

to litigate the matter in the proceeding that is to be given preclusive effect.”  Costner v. 

URS Consultants, Inc., 153 F.3d 667, 673 (8
th

 Cir. 1998).   

 Johnson contends that she did not have a full and fair opportunity to litigate her 

substantive-due-process claim in federal court.  But significantly she does not contend 

that her ability to conduct discovery in federal court was restricted in any way.  When the 

Defendants moved for summary judgment, Johnson did not contend that the motion was 

premature or submit a Rule 56(f) motion seeking further discovery.  Rather, she 

responded to summary judgment with an 81-page Statement of Material Facts containing 

406 numbered paragraphs.  (Appellees’ App. 060.)  Her counsel submitted 28 exhibits 
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including excerpts from fifteen depositions, one interview, and two affidavits.  

(Appellees’ App. 062.)   

 Judge Piersol considered all these materials, as well as supplemental materials 

submitted by Johnson, but nevertheless found that, even construing the facts in Johnson’s 

favor, she could not prove that any of the Defendants were deliberately indifferent.  

(Appellee’s App. 030 n.1, 043.)  After Judge Piersol granted summary judgment, Johnson 

appealed to the Eighth Circuit.  Johnson did not contend on appeal that she had been 

denied sufficient opportunity to gather evidence before summary judgment.  The Eighth 

Circuit also reviewed the record most favorably to Johnson and did “not find the Warden 

acted with deliberate indifference in his transfers of Robert and Berget.”  (Appellees’ 

App. 051.)  Accordingly, the circuit court correctly determined that “the submissions and 

resulting judicial opinions from the federal litigation make it clear that the parties 

possessed and availed themselves of the opportunity to fully and fairly litigate the 

constitutional claim in federal court.”  (App. B28.) 

 Johnson contends, however, that the circuit court erred because she obtained an 

affidavit from Michael Thomas, a former cellmate of Eric Robert, after Judge Piersol 

granted summary judgment.   Johnson’s argument is misplaced.  Whether she had a full 

and fair opportunity to litigate her substantive-due-process claim focuses on the 

opportunity she had to litigate that claim; not whether it is still possible to find additional 

evidence concerning that claim.  If the ability to find one more potential item of evidence 

allowed a party to completely relitigate a claim, there would be no end to litigation.  

When the parties are identical in the two proceedings at issue, the Eighth Circuit has held 

that the “discovery of additional evidence does not afford [a losing party] ‘a second 
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opportunity to prove a fact or make an argument relating to an issue previously 

decided.’”  Kent v. United Omaha Life Ins. Co., 484 F.3d 988, 995 (8
th

 Cir. 2007) 

(quoting Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. FAG Bearings Corp., 335 F.3d 752, 762 (8
th

 Cir. 2003)). 

 Moreover, Johnson presented no evidence to the circuit court that she could not 

have obtained the affidavit from Michael Thomas before Judge Piersol granted summary 

judgment.   To the contrary, Michael Thomas was known to be a potential witness before 

summary judgment because he was discussed during the deposition of Jesse Sondreal.  

(Appellees’ App. 067, 068-69, 070.)  Johnson discussed Thomas in her statement of 

material facts and brief in opposition to summary judgment, and never contended that she 

had been unable to locate him nor did she ask for additional time to obtain discovery 

from him.  (Appellees’ App. 057-58 ¶ 388; Appellees’ App. 072.)        

 In any event, the affidavit that Thomas provided after summary judgment would 

not have changed the result.  Thomas does not claim to have personal knowledge of 

Robert and Berget’s plan to escape on April 12, 2011.  Nor does he claim to know that 

any Defendant was aware of that plan.  He merely claims to have warned various DOC 

personnel that Robert was dangerous in March 2009 and earlier.  (SR2567 to SR2568 ¶ 

16.)  A warning given over two years before the incident suggesting that Robert was 

dangerous and wanted to escape would be merely cumulative to the extensive record that 

Judge Piersol and the Eighth Circuit considered and held to be insufficient as a matter of 

law.    

 Johnson thus has not shown sufficient inability to obtain this evidence during the 

federal court proceedings or that her new evidence has sufficient weight to justify a 

finding that she did not have a full and fair opportunity to litigate in federal court.  See 
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Liberty Mutual, 335 F.3d at 765 (“some degree of diligence must be shown to avoid the 

application of issue preclusion on a ‘new evidence’ theory where the parties in both 

actions are the same and there is no allegation that another party’s actions prevented the 

introduction of the evidence by the estopped party in the initial litigation”).  The circuit 

court correctly determined that Johnson had a full and fair opportunity to litigate her 

substantive-due-process claim in federal court. 

 Johnson contends that South Dakota decisions establish that discovering new 

evidence is an exception to res judicata.  State law, however, does not control the effect 

of a federal judgment in a federal-question case.  Taylor, 553 U.S. at 891.  In addition, 

the South Dakota decisions Johnson cites did not recognize an exception to res judicata 

based on the discovery of a single item of evidence concerning an event that occurred 

before the first litigation began.  Rather, they concerned issues that arose following the 

initial ruling.  In re L.S., 2006 S.D. 76, ¶ 11, 721 N.W.2d 83, 87 (state obtained new 

evidence that mother was unfit after court verbally ruled that case should be dismissed); 

Lewton v. McCauley, 460 N.W.2d 728, 731 (S.D. 1990) (res judicata did not apply to 

issues that arose as a result of the appellate ruling in the first case).  Neither In re L.S. nor 

Lewton involved the discovery of new evidence concerning a pre-litigation event, and 

thus they do not help Johnson.  

 Johnson alternatively argues that res judicata should not apply to her claim based 

on the South Dakota Constitution because the federal litigation only concerned her 

Section 1983 claim.  The circuit court rejected this argument because Johnson provided 

no authority that South Dakota’s Due Process Clause has been construed to provide 

greater protection than the United States Constitution’s Due Process Clause.  To the 
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contrary, in State v. Chant, 2014 S.D. 77, 856 N.W.2d 167, this Court chose to align its 

interpretation of the South Dakota Due Process Clause with the United States Supreme 

Court’s interpretation of the Federal Due Process Clause because there was no principled 

reason to interpret the identical language differently.  Id. ¶ 10, 856 N.W.2d at 170.  

Pursuant to Chant, the circuit court correctly concluded that the right to substantive due 

process would be the same under the South Dakota Constitution as the United States 

Constitution. 

 If the two constitutions provide the same right to substantive due process, it then 

follows that the circuit court correctly determined that identity of claims existed and res 

judicata applied.  In the Eighth Circuit, the test for determining whether claims are the 

same for purposes of res judicata is “‘whether the wrong for which redress is sought is 

the same in both actions.’”  Daley v. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 415 F.3d 889, 896 (8
th

 Cir. 2005) 

(quoting Roach v. Teamsters Local Union No. 688, 595 F.2d 446, 449 (8
th

 Cir. 1979).  

South Dakota uses the same test:  “‘whether the wrong sought to be redressed is the same 

in both actions.’”  Clay v. Weber, 2007 S.D. 45, ¶ 13, 733 N.W.2d 278, 284 (quoting 

Black Hills Jewelry Mfg. Co. v. Felco Jewel Indus., Inc., 336 N.W.2d 153, 157 (S.D. 

1983)).  Here, as the circuit court recognized, the wrong that Johnson is trying to redress 

based on the South Dakota Constitution is the very same wrong she litigated and lost in 

federal court:  the alleged deprivation of Ron’s life without due process of law.   

 In fact, Johnson relies on the very same paragraphs of her Complaint--Count 3--to 

support both causes of action.  Because the wrong sought to be redressed is identical, the 

claim-preclusion aspect of res judicata bars Johnson’s attempt to assert another 

substantive due process claim, even if one assumes arguendo that this Court would adopt 
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different elements for a substantive due process claim based on the South Dakota 

Constitution than the elements the Eighth Circuit uses for Section 1983 claims based on 

the United States Constitution.  See Clay, 2007 S.D. 45, ¶ 15, 733 N.W.2d at 284-85 

(claim-preclusion aspect of federal judgment on inmate’s Section 1983 claim concerning 

prison’s policy that inmates could not own computers barred him from subsequently 

pursuing due process claim based on South Dakota Constitution). 

d. The circuit court correctly recognized that sovereign immunity would 

apply to Johnson’s proposed constitutional tort. 

 

 The circuit court held that, if res judicata did not apply, then sovereign immunity 

would bar Johnson’s proposed state substantive-due-process claim pursuant to the same 

analysis it had earlier applied to Johnson’s wrongful-death and survival claims.  (App. 

B22 n.10.)  The circuit court recognized that this case involved two forms of sovereign 

immunity.  The first is the statutory sovereign immunity available to the State and state 

employees
6
 “for any injury caused by or resulting from:  (1) An escaping or escaped 

prisoner.”  SDCL § 3-21-9.  Here, it is undisputed that Berget and Robert murdered Ron 

as part of a failed escaped attempt.  (SR117 ¶ 12; SR1266 ¶ 12.)  Johnson’s substantive-

due-process claim based on Ron’s death therefore is a claim for an injury caused by or 

resulting from escaping prisoners.   

 Constitutional sovereign immunity would also apply.  It is well established that, 

absent an express waiver of sovereign immunity, discretionary decisions by state 

employees are protected by sovereign immunity.  Truman v. Griese, 2009 S.D. 8, ¶ 20, 

762 N.W.2d 75, 80 (State employees are generally immune from suit when they perform 

                                                 
6
  As the circuit court noted, the Legislature has extended immunity for injuries within the 

scope of this statute to private individuals as well, so SDCL § 3-21-9 “appears to 

contemplate sovereign and ‘non-sovereign’ immunity.”  (App. B10 n.5.) 



 33 

 

discretionary functions, but not when they perform ministerial functions.).  As the circuit 

court correctly concluded, the administrative decisions that Johnson contends contributed 

to Berget and Robert’s escape attempt are expressly defined as discretionary by statute: 

No inmate has any implied right or expectation to be housed in any 

particular facility, participate in any specific program, or receive any 

specific service, and each inmate is subject to transfer from any one 

facility, program, or service at the discretion of the warden of the 

penitentiary. 

 

SDCL § 24-2-27.  This Court has recognized that “[i]mmunity is critical to the state’s 

evident public policy of allowing those in charge of jails to make discretionary decisions 

about prison administration without fear of tort liability.”  Hancock v. Western South 

Dakota Juvenile Servs. Ctr., 2002 S.D. 69, ¶ 15, 647 N.W.2d 722, 725.   

 Johnson has noted that constitutional sovereign immunity does not apply to 

intentional torts.  Hart v. Miller, 2000 S.D. 53, ¶ 37, 609 N.W.2d 138, 148.  As couched 

by Johnson, however, the tort she asks this Court to adopt would not be an intentional 

tort.  She urges this Court to use a less stringent intent standard than the deliberate 

indifference standard used by the Eighth Circuit to determine whether conduct shocks the 

conscience.  As explained in the workers-compensation section, deliberate indifference 

does not require intent to harm, but rather merely requires an awareness that “a 

substantial risk of serious harm exists.”  (Appellees’ App. 050.)  Consequently, a new 

state constitutional tort with an even less stringent intent standard than deliberate 

indifference would clearly not be an intentional tort and would therefore be barred by 

constitutional sovereign immunity. 
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CONCLUSION  

 

Johnson did not plead a claim based on a violation of the South Dakota 

Constitution, and even if she had, it would be barred by the dismissal of her federal 

constitutional claim and by sovereign immunity.  Of Johnson’s state-law claims based on 

the after-incident report, only two are at issue on appeal.  Her claim for IIED fails on the 

merits because the way in which the after-incident report was written was not extreme 

and outrageous, and her fraud claim fails because she cannot prove both intent to deceive 

and reliance to her detriment.  In addition, all three claims at issue on appeal are barred 

by the exclusivity of workers-compensation benefits.  The Appellees respectfully request 

that the judgment be affirmed. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 In this case Johnson asserts that over the course of several years the Defendants 

engaged in an affirmative course of conduct that created a real and substantial risk to the 

safety and lives of Department of Corrections (“DOC”) employees.  Johnson further 

claims that the Defendants knew and appreciated the risk they had created and, despite 

having multiple opportunities to eliminate the risk, chose not to correct the situation.  

Johnson vigorously maintains that the Defendants’ conduct directly contributed to the 

death of Ron Johnson.  Finally, Johnson alleges that almost immediately after Ron’s 

death, the Defendants engaged in a cover up to conceal their prior actions that contributed 

to the murder.  As part of those efforts, the Defendants affirmatively misrepresented the 

relevant facts to Johnson and, in furtherance of those efforts, dishonestly stated that no 

policies or procedures were violated and issued an After-Incident Report that plainly 

suggested that the death was an unavoidable tragedy. 

 In this case, the circuit court somehow concluded that many of the facts “are truly 

undisputed.”  SR at 2813.  In keeping with this erroneous conclusion, the Brief of 

Appellees states:  “Thus the extended statement of the facts in Johnson’s brief, which 

focused on events occurring years before Ron’s murder, is largely irrelevant to this 

appeal.”  Brief of Appellees at 3. 

 The Defendants also place emphasis on the fact that the federal courts ruled 

against Johnson on her § 1983 claim, and suggest that any review of Johnson’s State 

Constitution due process claim would be a waste of time.  The Defendants fail to point 

out that the District Court did not consider most of the facts asserted by Johnson because 
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it was bound by the Eighth Circuit’s requirement that the Defendants’ conduct produce 

an “immediate” harm.  Thus, the District Court concluded that the conduct was “too far 

removed in time.”  Aside from the fact that this Court may not include this “immediacy” 

requirement, Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentation claims contain no such requirement.  

As a result, all of the facts demonstrating the Defendants’ conduct are relevant and 

should be considered by this Court. 

REPLIES TO THE APPELLEES’ ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. WHETHER A JURY COULD CONCLUDE THAT THE DEFENDANTS’ 

CONDUCT WAS EXTREME AND OUTRAGEOUS. 

 

A. Johnson has identified facts demonstrating that the Defendants’ 

conduct was extreme and outrageous. 

 

 At the outset, the Defendants strive to minimize their conduct which culminated 

with the issuance of the After-Incident Report.  Accordingly, the Defendants suggest that 

Johnson’s claim is based solely on the After-Incident Report’s failure to include particular 

statements, the inclusion of certain incorrect statements, and the imprecise use of a 

specialized term.  As the Defendants well know, Johnson’s claim is not based on a few 

missing sentences, typos, and/or word choices. 

 To analyze this issue, the Court must compare the sanitized After-Incident Report 

with the facts as presented by Johnson, most of which are heavily disputed by the 

Defendants.  Among many others, Johnson identified the following facts which are 

relevant to her claims that the Defendants do not admit, and which are therefore in 

dispute: 

- Berget and Robert were extremely violent and dangerous men; they were 

not average inmates.  SR at 1271, 1274-75, 2390. 
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- Berget had attempted to escape multiple times and had posed a substantial 

threat to escape.  SR at 1215, 2400.  In 2007, Robert attempted to escape 

and DOC documents confirm that Berget was involved.  Id. at 1231-34. 

  

- By any reasonable reading of DOC policy, Berget and Robert were to be 

housed in maximum security and subjected to direct correctional 

supervision in the Jameson Annex. SR at 536, 574, 1698-99. 

 

- Both Berget and Robert engaged in virtually identical hunger strikes for 

the express purpose of being moved to an area with less security and 

supervision.  SR at 1223, 1254, 1242-43, 2390. 

 

- Berget and Robert could not have been moved out of Jameson to a lower 

level of security and supervision without affirmative decisions by the 

Defendants.  SR at 1223, 1254, 1242-43. 

 

 - The Defendants, and specifically Warden Weber, entered into deals with 

both inmates whereby, in exchange for ending their hunger strikes, they 

were moved out of maximum security and into a lower level of security 

and supervision.  SR at 1221-23, 1254, 1242-43, 2390.  The medical 

records for both inmates include multiple specific demands to see Warden 

Weber.  SR at 1241-42.  The comments made by each inmate are very 

similar and they make the same demands.  SR at 2500-01, 1242-43. 

 

 - These transfers violated (i) the DOC’s Classification Policy, (ii) the 

DOC’s hunger strike policy, and (iii) basic ethical rules applicable to 

corrections.  Id. at 2390. 

 

 - Warden Weber moved these inmates knowing that the transfers violated 

the DOC policies identified above.  SR at 2425-26. 

 

 - In July of 2009, Robert demanded to be moved to the third floor of West 

Hall to a cell next to Berget.  SR at 1240-43.  In August of 2009, Berget 

unilaterally packed up his belongings and demanded to be moved out the 

cell he had been living in for several years.  SR at 1244-45.  He further 

demanded to be moved to the third floor of West Hall in a cell next to 

Robert.  The Defendants acquiesced and moved both inmates to the third 

floor of West Hall in cells W085 and W089, resulting in them being 

separated by only one cell.  SR at 801-04, 1444-46.  APP to Appellants’ 

Brief at F-3. 

 

- From the point that Berget and Robert were moved into the cells next to 

each other, no senior administrative official ever signed their name as 
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approving Berget’s placement.  SR at 1246, 49. 

 

- David Tolley testified in an affidavit that the DOC asked him to move to 

the third floor of West hall in a cell next to Berget and Robert to spy on 

them and report what he learned.  APP to Appellants’ Brief at F-2. 

 

- David Tolley stated in an affidavit that he reported that Berget and Robert 

intended to escape and, because he did not want to be around when 

something happened, actually asked to be moved to a cell away from 

them.  APP to Appellants’ Brief at F-3.  The Defendants granted Tolley’s 

request, but inexplicably left Berget and Robert in the same cells in West 

Hall.  Id. 

 

 - Starting in 2009 and continuing until Ron Johnson’s murder, the 

Defendants were aware from a number of sources, including David Tolley, 

that Berget and Robert were planning to escape.  APP to Appellants’ Brief 

at F-3. 

 

- Despite this knowledge, the DOC kept Berget and Robert in West Hall as 

part of the agreements to end hunger strikes.  SR at 801-04, 1444-46. 

 

 - Reports made during this time-frame included threats of violence and the 

potential for harming a guard.  APP to Appellants’ Brief at F-3. 

 

 - Case Manager Lisa Frazier specifically warned against moving Robert out 

of the Jameson Annex.  SR at 2404.  Her narrative warning against the 

move is somehow missing and has never been produced. 

 

 - Tim Henry specifically warned that Berget and Robert were intending to 

attempt an escape and questioned why they were not in the Jameson 

Annex.  SR at 2723-24, 1276-77.  Henry specifically questioned why they 

were allowed to move freely in and out of West Hall.  SR at 2727-28. 

  

- After seeing Berget and Robert in West Hall and observing their conduct, 

Correctional Officer Chet Bouie warned the Defendants that Berget and 

Robert should be locked up.  SR at 2338. 

 

- In 2009, Meade County States Attorney Jesse Sondreal contacted the DOC 

regarding Robert’s motion to modify his sentence.  SR at 148, 153-54. 

  

- Based on his investigation and discussion with the DOC, Sondreal 

believed that Robert intended to plan an escape and kill a guard.  SR at 

153-54. 
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- Michael Thomas indicated that he met with DOC officials and the DCI 

regarding Robert.  SR at 345-51.  He asked to be moved out of Robert’s 

cell because he was afraid of him.  Id. 

 

- Within three weeks of both Berget and Robert obtaining jobs that allowed 

them free access to the Prison Industries Building, they executed their plan 

to escape and killed Ron Johnson. 

  

- Following the death of Ron Johnson, the Defendants asserted that they had 

compiled a comprehensive investigation into what happened leading up to 

the escape attempts and the death of Ron Johnson and affirmatively stated 

that no policies or procedures were violated.  SR at 2427. 

 

- The Defendants issued an After-Incident Report proposing changes to 

avoid similar circumstances in the future; however, the After-Incident 

Report makes no mention of how Berget and Robert actually obtained 

cells outside of the Jameson Annex, and no reference to any of the facts 

set forth above. 

 

 It should be noted that the Defendants either ignore or deny virtually all of the 

facts listed above.  Compare these facts to the After-Incident Report.  Further, if these 

facts are assumed as true for purposes of summary judgment, it is reasonable to conclude 

or, at the very least, infer that the Defendants knew that DOC policy had been repeatedly 

and intentionally violated; knew that they had created a risk of harm; knew that they had 

been warned that Berget and Robert were planning an escape attempt; and knew that their 

conduct unequivocally facilitated the murder of Ron Johnson because Berget and Robert 

would not have had the opportunity to do so had they been housed where they were 

supposed to be, in maximum security.  And, most importantly, the Defendants knew that 

if their inexcusable conduct came to light, there would be personal and public 

repercussions.  As a result, the Defendants elected to hide the truth, and issue an After-

Incident Report that they knew full well to be false, despite the fact that it was one of 

their own that was killed, and the fact that they knew that Ron’s wife, Lynette, would be 
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relying upon their representations to try and understand how she came to lose her 

husband in a part of the prison where only trusted inmates are permitted. 

B. Defendants’ conduct constitutes extreme and outrageous conduct. 

 

The Defendants’ second claim is that Johnson’s brief cites no authority that an 

IIED claim can be established based on the creation of false or misleading reports.  Brief 

of Appellees at 9.  This is simply not true.   

By way of example, Johnson would direct the Court to Banyas v. Lower Bucks 

Hospital, 437 A.2d 1236 (Pa. Super. Ct.  1981).  In that case, the court allowed an IIED 

claim to proceed stating: 

If the [hospital], in fact intentionally propagated a falsehood when they 

wrote that Mr. Lavin’s death was attributable solely to Mr. Banyas, we 

believe that they could also be found liable for the emotional distress 

suffered by Mr. Banyas.  We would find an intentional misstatement of the 

cause of death to be intolerable professional conduct and extreme and 

outrageous.  Certainly, Mr. Banyas was substantially certain to suffer 

emotional distress following such a report.  Therefore, if proven, the facts 

alleged by appellant in this first count would entitle him to relief. 

 

Id. at 1239. 

 A similar holding was reached in Thomas v. Hospital Board of Directors of Lee 

County, 41 S.3d 246 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.  2010).  In that case, the court of appeals held (i) 

that the defendants’ conduct in making false statements regarding the cause of death and 

falsifying records rose “to the level of atrocious and utterly intolerable behavior which 

cannot be condoned in a civilized community;” (ii) that “when an actor has knowledge 

‘that the other [person] is peculiarly susceptible to emotional distress,’ the actor’s 

‘conduct may become heartless, flagrant, and outrageous when the actor proceeds in the 

face of such knowledge;’” and (iii) that “in a situation where a person’s loved one has 
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died, it would be apparent to anyone that the person would be susceptible to emotional 

distress and, therefore, that the action of providing false information concerning the loved 

one’s cause of death meets the standard for a claim of outrage (intentional infliction of 

emotional distress).”  Id.  See also Trujillo v. Puro, 683 P.2d 963 (N.M. Ct. App.  1984); 

Chuy v. Philadelphia Eagles, 595 F.2d 1265 (3
rd

 Cir.1979); Syzmanski v. Hartford 

Hospital, 1991 WL 16189 (Conn. Super. Ct.  1991); Wangen v. Knudson, 428 N.W.2d 

242, 248 (S.D. 1988).
1
 

 C. Johnson’s IIED claim and misrepresentation claims are not barred by 

the exclusivity of worker’s compensation. 

 

The Defendants contend that Johnson’s IIED and misrepresentations claims are 

“on account of” Ron Johnson’s death and should therefore be barred by the workers-

compensation immunity found in SDCL 62-3-2.  Brief of Appellees at 20.  The 

Defendants are incorrect. 

The language in the statute is clear.  The prohibition of other claims under SDCL 

62-3-2 is limited to claims “on account of personal injury or death arising out of and in 

the course of employment . . . .”  SDCL 62-3-2.  And, Johnson’s claim for IIED is not on 

account of Ron’s murder, nor did it arise out of and in the course of Ron’s employment; 

rather, they are “on account of” actions of the Defendants following the murder. 

                                                 
1
 The Defendants also argue that Johnson offered no authority for the premise that the 

Defendants would know she was traumatized by Ron Johnson’s murder and that Johnson 

failed to provide any authority demonstrating that the relationship between the parties is 

relevant.  This is simply not true.  In addition to common decency, Johnson would again 

direct the Court’s attention to Watts v. Chittenden, 22 A.3d 1214 (Conn. 2011), and 

House v. Hicks, 179 P.3d 730 (Or. 2008), both of which were referenced in Johnson’s 

initial brief.  See Appellants’ Brief at 20-21, 25.  See also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 

46, comment e; Thomas v. Hospital Board of Directors of Lee County, 41 S.3d 246 (Fla. 

Dist. Ct. App.  2010). 
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As support, the Defendants direct this Court to two decisions from other states:  

Pittman v. Western Engineering Co., 813 N.W.2d 487 (Neb. 2012), and Maney v. 

Louisiana Pac. Co., 15 P.3d 962 (Mont. 2000).  Neither of these decisions concerned 

allegations that the employer – months down the road – intentionally misrepresented the 

events and circumstances which led to the employee’s death.  Instead, the events giving 

rise to the loved-ones’ emotional distress claims in Pittman and Maney were 

contemporaneous with the death of the employee and involved seeing their loved one’s 

body.  Pittman, 813 N.W.2d at 491; Maney, 15 P.3d at 401. 

A more suitable case for guidance is Barnes v. Double Seal Glass Co., Inc., Plant 

1, 341 N.W.2d 812 (Mich. Ct. App. 1983).  Barnes arose after a sixteen-year-old boy, 

who was illegally employed without a work permit, was killed on-the-job.  Id. at 814.  

Following the work accident, the Defendants did not immediately call for an ambulance 

or attempt to give the teenager medical aid, and the company President and other 

employees “told hospital personnel that they found decedent by the side of the road and 

did not know him.”  Id.  The employer also failed to notify the teenager’s parents about 

the accident.  Id.  Finally, the employer “cleaned up the accident site so that police would 

not be able to accurately investigate the accident.”  Id. 

The Michigan Court of Appeals determined that the parents’ IIED claim was not 

barred.  Id. at 817.  In the words of the court:  “Plaintiffs’ claim for intentional infliction 

of emotional distress is made on their own behalf, for their own injuries, for a tort 

directed at them rather than at their son.”  Id.  The claims “state an independent cause of 

action for intentional infliction of emotional distress which is not derivative and is 
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outside the scope of the wrongful death act and the [Worker’s Disability Compensation 

Act].”  Id. at 818. 

Johnson is not asserting a bystander claim, nor is she alleging that her emotional 

distress is a product of learning of Ron’s death or watching him die.  Johnson’s IIED 

claim focuses on the Defendants’ course of conduct following the murder.
2
 

II. WHETHER THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT 

CONCERNING JOHNSON’S CLAIM FOR FRAUDULENT 

MISPRESENTATION. 

 

 Element (4).  The Defendants contend that no showing of an intent to deceive has 

been made.  However, under the Defendants’ version of what must be shown, intent may 

seemingly only be demonstrated by an admission by the Defendants.  Needless to say, 

defendants rarely admit such intent, thus plaintiffs must often rely upon circumstantial 

evidence.  As aptly stated by the United States District Court for the District of North 

Dakota: 

Direct evidence of what may have been in a prison official’s mind is often 

difficult to come by and is not required. Just as in criminal cases where the 

ultimate burden of proof is even higher, jurors rely upon circumstantial 

evidence to draw an inference that the requisite mental state existed. 

 

Norman v. Wrolstad, 2008 WL 351457, *25 (D.N.D. 2008). 

                                                 
2
 In its Issue No. 3, the Defendants assert that the question of whether this Court should 

adopt a State Constitution due process claim is moot because, in the Defendants’ opinion, 

it would be barred by workers-compensation exclusivity.  Brief of Appellees at 16.  

Johnson disagrees.  Numerous federal courts have held that a party’s § 1983 claim 

preempts and/or supersedes any “exclusive” remedy contained within a state worker’s 

compensation statute.  Here, the same principle should hold true, and Johnson’s civil 

rights claim based on Article VI, § 2 of the South Dakota Constitution should preempt 

and/or supersede SDCL 62-3-2.  Compare Rosa v. Cantrell, 705 F.2d 1208, (10
th

 Cir. 

1982); Walker v. Rowe, 535 F.Supp. 55, 57 (N.D. Ill 1982); Hutchings v. Erie City and 

County, 516 F.Supp. 1265, 1273 (W.D. Pa. 1981). 
 



 

 

10 

Element (5).  The Defendants also submit that Johnson’s claim for 

misrepresentation must fail because she has not shown reliance.  The Defendants’ 

argument is flawed.  If a claim for misrepresentation is negated whenever a person 

suspects foul play and eventually commences a lawsuit, then no claims would survive 

summary judgment.   

Lynette Johnson’s husband and best friend was brutally and suddenly murdered 

on his birthday while working for the DOC.  On the date of his death, Ron Johnson had 

been continuously employed by the DOC for nearly twenty-four years.  Given these 

circumstances, it cannot be maintained in good faith that Lynette Johnson would not have 

relied on Ron’s employer, supervisors and co-workers for an explanation as to what took 

place – at least until she started to discover that she had been lied to. 

 Regardless, given that the Defendants did not genuinely argue element (5), it was 

inappropriate for the circuit court to grant summary judgment based upon an argument 

not contained in the Defendants’ initial brief.  See Shurr v. A.R. Siegler, Inc., 70 F. Supp. 

2d 900, 912 (E.D. Wis. 1999); United States v. Letscher, 83 F. Supp. 2d 367, 377 

(S.D.N.Y. 1999).  Compare Aase v. State, S. Dakota Bd. of Regents, 400 N.W.2d 269, 275 

(S.D. 1987) (Sabers, J., dissenting).  Further, the error clearly was not harmless given the 

circuit court’s comment that Johnson’s brief failed to “provide any greater clarity” on the 

issue of whether Lynette Johnson relied to her detriment upon the After-Incident Report. 

Further, a report prepared by Dr. Nathan Szajnberg was disclosed to the 

Defendants and made part of the record.  Although the Defendants take issue with his 

report, claiming that he does not directly address element (5).  The opinions reached by 
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Dr. Szajnberg articulate a condition that results directly from reliance on those who 

claimed to have knowledge of what took place and representations they made regarding 

the death of Ron Johnson.
3
 

Do the Defendants honestly contend that Johnson knew that the DOC was lying to 

her on the day of Ron Johnson’s death?  Do they really believe that Johnson knew that 

she was being lied to on the day of Ron Johnson’s funeral, or on any of the days the DOC 

officiously had a staff member stay with Lynette Johnson in her home for several days, 

offering a form of condolence, but misrepresenting the truth?  Without even raising the 

issue directly in a motion for summary judgment, the Defendants are asking this Court to 

rule as a matter of law that the surviving spouse of a murdered state employee would 

have absolutely no reasonable basis to expect or rely on an explanation as to the death of 

his/her spouse killed while on the job.  The argument is ridiculous and shameful. 

III. WHETHER SOUTH DAKOTA SHOULD RECOGNIZE A PRIVATE 

CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF THE DUE PROCESS 

CLAUSE FOUND IN ARTICLE VI, § 2 OF THE SOUTH DAKOTA 

CONSTITUTION. 

 

 A. Johnson pled a claim for violation of Ron Johnson’s due process 

rights under the South Dakota Constitution. 

 

Count III of Johnsons’ Complaint included an allegation that the Defendants 

violated Johnson’s due process rights under Article VI, § 2 of the State Constitution.
4
  

                                                 
3
 The Defendants also conveniently ignore a finding made by Dr. Szajnberg indicating 

that Lynette Johnson had further losses from her “subsequent discoveries” of what she 

perceived as intentional violations of policy by Warden Weber and other administrative 

staff and a possible cover up.  SR at 2753.  In fact, Dr. Szajnberg went on to point out 

that the damages caused by each (the original trauma of the event and the later reliance 

on the false information) were distinct.  SR at 2752.  
4 

Article VI, § 2 of the South Dakota Constitution provides, in pertinent part:  “No person 
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Specifically, Johnson made the following allegation:  “[Ron Johnson] was deprived of 

rights, privileges and immunities secured by the United States Constitution and the South 

Dakota Constitution . . . . ”).  SR at 20 (emphasis added). 

 Johnson acknowledges that his State Constitution due process claim was not 

under its own “heading” or “Count”.  However, contrary to the Defendants’ suggestion, 

that is not dispositive.  A similar argument was made by the defendants, and rejected by 

this Court, in East Side v. Next, Inc., 2014 S.D. 59, 852 N.W.2d 434: 

Defendants argue that because the complaint did not outline each separate 

cause of action East Side presents to this Court, it cannot raise those 

separate actions on appeal.  We disagree. “South Dakota still adheres to 

the rules of notice pleading[.]”  “[U]nder notice pleading, a case consists 

not in the pleadings, but the evidence, for which the pleadings furnish the 

basis.  Cases are generally to be tried on the proofs rather than the 

pleadings.”  East Side adequately put Defendants on notice of its claims 

and presented evidence in support of its claims. 

 

Id. at n. 6 (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added). 

 Given that Johnson specifically alleged that Ron Johnson was deprived of rights, 

privileges and immunities secured by the South Dakota Constitution, Johnson satisfied 

SDCL 15-6-8(a) and well beyond any “notice” pleading requirement.
5
 

 B. The Legislature has not created a private due process violation cause 

of action. 

 

 According to the Defendants, because the Legislature has not created this private 

                                                                                                                                                 

shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.”  S.D. 

Constitution, Art. VI, § 2. 
5
 The Defendants’ interpretation of SDCL 15-6-8(a) is so strict that they go so far as to 

claim that Johnson was required to “plead the elements of [such a State Constitution 

process claim]” in his Complaint.  Brief of Appellees at 26.  The Defendants provide no 

legal authority for this claimed pleading obligation.  Clearly, SDCL 15-6-8(a) contains no 

such requirement. 
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cause of action, “South Dakota courts are not free to recognize a new tort that would 

allow suits against the State based on alleged violation of South Dakota’s Due Process 

Clause.”  Brief of Appellees at 26-27.  The Defendants seemingly ignore that this Court 

has previously recognized private causes of action under South Dakota’s Constitution.  

See Hurley v. State, 143 N.W.2d 722 (1966), Egan Consolidated School District v. 

Minnehaha County, 270 N.W. 527, 528 (S.D. 1936); Appeal of Black Hills Indus. 

Freeport, Inc., 268 N.W.2d 489, 492 (S.D. 1978). 

Article VI, § 2 provides that “[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or 

property without due process of law.”  S.D. Constitution, Art. VI, § 2.  This Constitutional 

guarantee affords much less protection if the State cannot be held accountable when it 

deprives one of its own citizens of life, liberty, or property without due process of law.  

This Court should follow the lead of numerous other states and recognize an implied 

cause of action for state constitutional violations. 

C. Res judicata does not bar Johnson’s claim. 

In Johnson’s initial brief, it was pointed out that the fourth element for res 

judicata was not present because new facts came to light after the Federal District Court 

ruled.  When new facts arise after the prior proceeding, there could not have been a “full 

and fair opportunity” to litigate those facts, and the doctrine of res judicata may be not be 

applied.  Lewton v. McCauley, 460 N.W.2d 728, 731 (S.D. 1990); Interest of L.S., 2006 

S.D. 76, ¶ 50, 721 N.W.2d 83, 97.  

 The circuit court was provided with new facts that were not part of the federal 

court proceeding.  Specifically, the circuit court was provided with the affidavit of 
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Michael E. Thomas, which was received some six months after the federal District Court 

had ruled.  SR at 68, 2483.  Because Thomas’ testimony was not received until after the 

District Court ruled, there are new facts that were not litigated in the prior proceeding.  

Thus, res judicata is inapplicable. 

The Affidavit of Michael E. Thomas is significant.  Former inmate Michael 

Thomas made contact with Lynette Johnson in November of 2014.  Affidavit of Michael 

E. Thomas.  Thomas confirmed (i) that he was a cellmate with Robert in 2007; (ii) that on 

many occasions Robert talked about what had happened in his past and he threatened to 

harm people in the future, and specifically mentioned his sentencing judge, the 

prosecutor, other inmates and guards; (iii) that Robert specifically asked Warden Weber 

to move him out of the Jameson Annex and up to the Hill, and that Warden Weber 

refused and told Robert that he was too dangerous to be moved; (iv) that Robert scared 

him and, as a result, he asked to be moved to a different cell and was moved; and (v) 

perhaps most important, he met with DOC special security and the DCI on more than one 

occasion to discuss Robert, and addressed the issues directly with Warden Weber as well.  

Id. at 1-2. 

D. A private cause of action for violation of Article VI, § 2 is not barred 

by statutory or Constitutional sovereign immunity. 

 

Applying SDCL 3-21-9 to bar Johnson’s claim would constitute a violation of 

Johnson’s right to due process under the South Dakota Constitution.  In Knowles v. 

United States, 1996 S.D. 10, 544 N.W.2d 183, the South Dakota Supreme Court 

concluded that SDCL 21-3-11 (which concerned a cap on medical malpractice damages) 

violated South Dakota’s due process clause.  The Legislature’s apparent objective in 
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adopting SDCL 3-21-9 was to protect the State and DOC employees from claims for 

injuries to the public caused by fleeing persons, or paroled or escaping prisoners, 

presumably because the DOC has virtually no control over such persons once they are 

beyond DOC’s supervision.  Here, the application of SDCL 3-21-9 does not bear a “real 

and substantial relation to the objects sought to be obtained.”  Knowles, 1996 S.D. at 

¶¶34-35.  If the Defendants’ argument is accepted, a DOC employee could conspire with 

a prisoner to aid that prisoner in escaping and yet be immune from liability even if part of 

the plan involved killing another DOC employee.  Surely the Legislature could not have 

intended such a result.  “The constitution is not a grant but a limitation upon the 

lawmaking power of the state legislature and it may enact any law not expressly or 

inferentially prohibited by state and federal constitutions.”  Kramar v. Bon Homme 

County, 155 N.W.2d 777, 778 (S.D.1968).
6 

The Defendants’ claim that they are separately entitled to immunity because their 

conduct was “discretionary” also lacks merit.  “[A] ministerial act is the simple carrying 

out of a policy already established . . . .”  King v. Landguth, 2007 S.D. 2, ¶11, 726 

N.W.2d 603, 607.  With regard to determining whether an act is ministerial or 

discretionary in nature, the South Dakota Supreme Court has adopted the Restatement 

(Second) of Torts § 895D.  Kyllo v. Panzer, 535 N.W.2d 896, 902 (S.D. 1995); Schaub v. 

Moerke, 338 N.W.2d 109, 111 (S.D. 1983). 

                                                 
6
 Any application of SDCL 3-21-9 that results in Johnson’s wrongful death claim being 

barred would violate the Equal Privileges and Immunities Provision found in Article VI, 

§ 18 (because it arbitrarily and improperly vitiates Johnson’s legal rights simply because 

he happened to be injured by State employees who work for the DOC) and the Open 

Courts Provision found in Art. VI, § 20 (because, as applied, it improperly purports to 

immunize state employees sought to be held liable for ministerial acts). 
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 The care and control of prisoners is deemed to be a ministerial act.  In fact, the 

comments to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 895D specifically identify “the care of 

prisoners” as an example of a ministerial act.  Id. at cmt. h.  A number of courts which 

have considered the issue are in accord.  See Gordon v. Frank, 454 F.3d 858 (8
th

 Cir. 

2006); Clark v. Prison Health Services, Inc.. 572 S.E.2d 342 (Ga. App. 2002); Pederson 

v. Traill County, 601 N.W.2d 268 (N.D. 1999); Kagan v. State, 646 N.Y.S.2d 336 (N.Y. 

App. Div. 1996); CJ.W. v. State, 853 P.2d 4 (Kan. 1993); Doe v. Arguelles, 716 P.2d 279 

(Utah 1986); Bandfield v. Wood, 361 N.W.2d 280 (Mich. 1985); Payton v. United States, 

679 F.2d 475 (5
th

 Cir. 1982); Tarpley v. Steps, 2007 WL 84426 (E.D. Mo. 2007) 

(unreported). 

CONCLUSION 

 Based upon the foregoing, Johnson respectfully requests that this Court reverse 

the circuit court’s Judgment. 

 Dated this 28
th

 day of October, 2016. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

Attorneys for Appellants Estate of Ronald E. 

Johnson and Lynette K. Johnson 

HELSPER, MCCARTY & RASMUSSSEN, PC 

 

         By:     /s/ Donald M. McCarty                                         . 

Donald M. McCarty 

1441 6
th

 Street – Suite 200 

Brookings, SD  57006 

Tel:  605.692.7775 

E-mail:  donmccarty@lawinsd.com 

THOMAS BRAUN BERNARD & BURKE, LLP 

     

         By:     /s/ John W. Burke                                                . 

John W. Burke 

mailto:donmccarty@lawinsd.com
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4200 Beach Drive – Suite 1 

Rapid City, SD  57702 

Tel:  605.348.7516 

E-mail:  jburke@tb3law.com 
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